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This publication includes “forward-looking statements” concerning expected revenue, earnings,

cash flow, share repurchases, restructuring and other matters that are subject to risks and

uncertainties. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those

anticipated or implied in forward-looking statements include the health of the global economy;

strength of end market demand in building construction and in both the commercial and defense

segments of the aerospace industry; fluctuation in commodity prices, interest rates and foreign

currency exchange rates; the impact of weather conditions; and company specific items,

including the availability and impact of acquisitions; the rate and ability to effectively integrate

these acquired businesses; the ability to achieve cost reductions at planned levels; challenges in

the design, development, production and support of advanced technologies and new products

and services; delays and disruption in delivery of materials and services from suppliers; labor

disputes; and the outcome of legal proceedings. In addition, past performance provides no

assurance of future performance. For information identifying other important economic, political,

regulatory, legal, technological, competitive and other uncertainties, see UTC’s SEC filings as

submitted from time to time, including but not limited to, the information included in UTC’s 10-K

and 10-Q Reports under the headings “Business,” “Risk Factors,” “Management’s Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Cautionary Note Concerning

Factors that May Affect Future Results,” as well as information included in UTC’s Current Reports

on Form 8-K.

United Technologies Corporation and its subsidiaries’ names, abbreviations thereof, logos and

product and service designators are all either the registered or unregistered trademarks or trade

names of United Technologies Corporation and its subsidiaries.



United Technologies grows by engineering
new possibilities globally. Our businesses
tackle worldwide issues, and our products
transform markets through relentless
innovation. We create value for shareowners
through the combined energy of nearly
215,000 employees. Over the last decade,
our total shareholder return is more than
two and a half times that of the S&P 500.



Dear Shareowner: In 2006, UTC’s revenues totaled $47.8 billion, a 12 percent increase over the prior year.

Importantly, organic growth was again strong at 9 percent, following similar increases in both 2005

and 2004 and reflecting strong markets and UTC’s leading technologies and cost performance. Net

income and earnings per share were up 18 and 19 percent, respectively (as compared with 2005 before

the FIN 47 accounting change). The dividend rate on common shares was increased 20 percent in 2006,

more than doubling the rate since 2002.

Cash flow from operations less capital expenditures again exceeded net income. Share repurchase in 2006

was $2.1 billion, a record for UTC. Total shareholder return for the year was 14 percent, and cumulatively

338 percent over the last decade. This total shareholder return record for UTC is more than two and a half

times that of either the Dow Industrials or S&P 500. UTC also ranks second among the 30 Dow Industrials

companies on this measure.
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George David Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Louis Chênevert President and Chief Operating Officer

Otis’ remarkable Gen2 elevator product line has enabled share increases for the company in most markets

worldwide. In all markets and products combined, Otis has gained more than five percentage points of

market share since 2000, due in substantial part to the Gen2 product launch and its accompanying high

performance and low costs. Carrier has won an extraordinary 69 percent of air conditioning contracts

awarded to date for the 2008 Beijing Olympics, reinforcing its leadership position in commercial air conditioning

in China. UTC Power won significant contracts in 2006, including fuel cell propulsion potentially powering

four submarines for the Spanish Navy.

The 2006 year was not without challenges. Sikorsky is midway through a three year period where helicopter

production will more than double, and a strike in last year’s second quarter added to the difficulties. Carrier

introduced a new high efficiency product line in its large and market leading North American Residential

business, and the production launch was late to market by approximately three months. The same business

also saw a steep decline in the second half of the year on the collapse in the North American housing market.

It’s a tribute to UTC’s geographic and industrial balance and management’s performance commitments that we

still saw earnings per share increase 19 percent for the year. These 2006 challenges also create opportunities

for earnings growth for the Corporation in 2007, on favorable comparisons.

UTC in 2006 closed out its prior goals to improve Environment, Health & Safety performance with great

success and set new goals for 2007 through 2010. Over the prior decade, lost workday incidence and U.S.

recordable incidence are down 80 and 78 percent, respectively. Over the same period, worldwide energy

use measured in Btu’s is down 19 percent worldwide on a company twice the size. Water use is down

comparably 49 percent. Longer term, we have reduced hazardous waste and air emissions as reported to

the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency by 89 and 98 percent since 1990, respectively.

The new goals through 2010 are just as aggressive and include for the first time a greenhouse gas metric.

The latter (sometimes called carbon dioxide equivalents) arises from implementation of the new accounting

standards and methodologies set jointly by the World Business Council for Sustainable Development and

the World Resources Institute. Our goal is 3 percent annual reductions in carbon dioxide equivalents

independent of organic growth, which compares favorably to our already extraordinary reductions in energy

use averaging 2 percent annually over the last decade. More information on UTC’s EH&S goals can be

found in our Corporate Responsibility Report published simultaneously.

We relaunched UTC’s ethics and compliance program in 2006. Our Code of Ethics, first published in 1990,

was reissued and re-emphasized. New and important program elements include ethics training and an

ethics component in performance appraisals, both mandatory each year for all salaried employees worldwide.

The significant management change in 2006 was election of Louis Chênevert as UTC’s President and Chief

Operating Officer and a director. This follows his remarkable leadership of Pratt & Whitney over the prior

seven years, in turn following senior executive positions at both Pratt & Whitney and Pratt & Whitney Canada.

Louis joins George David in the Office of the Chief Executive.

On behalf of UTC shareowners, we thank all UTC employees who continue to make UTC a truly amazing company.

2006 ANNUAL REPORT 3

Accomplishments in 2006 included first flight of the U.S. military’s Lightning II, formerly the Joint Strike Fighter

and powered by Pratt & Whitney engines. This aircraft is prospectively the largest fighter engine program

ever. The year also saw the first delivery of the Cessna Citation Mustang and the Eclipse 500. Both

aircraft are powered by Pratt & Whitney Canada engines and confirm leadership for us in this emerging

Very Light Jet category. Hamilton Sundstrand opened its Boeing 787 systems integration laboratory in

Rockford, Illinois and increased its already high content on the Boeing 787 with an additional system win.
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AT A GLANCE

UTC provides high technology products and services

to the building systems and aerospace industries

worldwide through our industry-leading businesses:

Carrier, Hamilton Sundstrand, Otis, Pratt & Whitney,

Sikorsky, UTC Fire & Security and UTC Power. In 2006,

UTC revenues increased 12 percent to $47.8 billion,

reflecting 9 points of organic growth and the incremental

impact of acquisitions. Earnings per share and net

income grew 19 percent1 and 18 percent1 to $3.71 and

$3.7 billion, respectively. Cash flow from operations of

$4.8 billion exceeded net income. Free cash flow

(cash flow from operations less capital expenditures

of $954 million) also exceeded net income and was

used, in part, to provide a record return to shareowners

through share repurchases of nearly $2.1 billion for

the year and increased dividends of $1.02 per share.

UTC also contributed $190 million of cash to its pension

plans during the year, in addition to $150 million in

shares of UTC common stock.

1 Before the cumulative effect of a change in an accounting principle related to

the adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 47,

“Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations,” which resulted in

a non-cash after tax cumulative impact on the fourth quarter 2005 results

of $95 million or $0.09 per share.
2 Amounts include company and customer funded research and development.
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Pratt & Whitney

Employees
38,442

Revenues
$11.1 billion

Operating Profit
$1.8 billion

Carrier

Heating, ventilation, air
conditioning and refrigera-
tion (HVACR) systems,
components, controls and
services for residential,
commercial, industrial and
transportation applications;
food service equipment.

Employees
41,257

Revenues
$13.5 billion

Operating Profit
$1.2 billion

Hamilton Sundstrand Otis

Employees
17,252

Revenues
$5.0 billion

Operating Profit
$832 million

Employees
61,103

Revenues
$10.3 billion

Operating Profit
$1.9 billion

COMPANY OVERVIEW

Turbofan engines for large
commercial and military
aircraft; turbofan and
turboprop engines for
regional, light jet, business,
utility and military aircraft;
turboshaft engines for
military and commercial
helicopters; gas turbine
engines for industrial
applications and auxiliary
power units; maintenance,
repair and overhaul services,
including the sale of spare
parts, as well as fleet
management services;
liquid space propulsion
systems for military and
commercial applications,
including NASA’s space
shuttle and Vision for
Space Exploration.

Electrical power generation
and distribution systems;
engine and flight controls;
propulsion systems; environ-
mental control systems;
auxiliary power units; fire
protection systems and LED
lighting for aircraft, space
vehicles and military ground
vehicles; industrial products,
including compressors,
pumps and metering devices.

Design, manufacture,
installation, service and
upgrade of elevators,
escalators and moving
walkways for all buildings,
including commercial,
residential, multipurpose
malls, educational
institutions and urban
transportation systems.
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Sikorsky UTC PowerUTC Fire & Security

Employees
11,417

Revenues
$3.2 billion

Operating Profit
$173 million

Employees
43,239

Revenues
$4.7 billion

Operating Profit
$301 million

Employees
487

Military and commercial
helicopters; fixed-wing
reconnaissance aircraft;
spare parts and mainte-
nance, repair and overhaul
services for helicopters and
fixed-wing aircraft; civil
helicopter operations.

Electronic security and fire
safety systems, software and
services; design, integration,
installation and servicing
of access control, intruder
alarm, video surveillance,
and fire detection and
suppression systems;
monitoring, response and
security personnel services.

Fuel cell systems for on-site,
transportation, space and
defense applications,
including the U.S. space
shuttle program; combined
cooling, heating and power
systems for commercial
and industrial applications.

UTC Power does not report financial
information as a separate segment.
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BUSINESSES IN BALANCE

UTC’s balanced portfolio of businesses spans a range of geographies, markets and customer relationships.

Maintaining this diversity allows us to take advantage of both long and short business cycles and reduce

the impact of shifts or downturns in individual markets or economies.

Revenues by business type
as percent of total revenue

Revenues by geography
as percent of total revenue

59%
Original Equipment
Manufacturing (OEM)

41%
Aftermarket

40%
United States

14%
Other

18%
Asia Pacific

28%
Europe

63%
Commercial &
Industrial

16%
Military
Aerospace &
Space

21%
Commercial
Aerospace
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UTC’s products make cities more efficient,
people more secure and travel more
comfortable. Each serves the present
while preparing for the future.

2006 ANNUAL REPORT 9



This speed reduction gearbox distinguishes
Pratt & Whitney’s Geared Turbofan engine
from virtually every other jet engine in the
world. Conventional turbofan design limits
the efficiency of fans, turbines and compressors
by running them all on a single shaft at a
single speed. The Geared Turbofan engine
allows a large, low-speed fan to work together
with a high-speed turbine, maximizing air
flow and engine efficiency, and reducing fuel
burn, noise and emissions compared to today’s
production engines. Our 20 years of Geared
Turbofan engine research and development will
culminate with ground testing in 2007 and
flight testing in 2008.
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QUIET
REVOLUTION
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Air traffic is projected to double

worldwide by 2020. By helping the

industry operate more efficiently,

UTC’s innovations are creating a

better future for airlines, airports

and travelers.

Hamilton Sundstrand systems perform
crucial functions on virtually 100 percent
of current commercial and regional jet
aircraft. They also are lifting the new
Boeing 787 Dreamliner to standards of
efficiency, environmental performance
and economics unmatched by any plane
flying today. Starting with an integrated
system solution for the entire aircraft,
Hamilton Sundstrand engineers have
introduced new technologies into one
787 subsystem after another. One example:
rethinking power generation in conjunction
with environmental controls has yielded
systems that improve cabin comfort and
fuel economy at the same time.

Airport congestion and the ever-growing
need to travel from point to point are

creating a booming market for smaller,
lighter jets. Pratt & Whitney Canada’s
PW600 family of engines has taken the lead
in Very Light Jet propulsion with three
major contract wins spurred by potential
savings in operating and environmental
costs. Pratt & Whitney’s Geared Turbofan
engine design offers the prospect of even
greater cost and noise reductions for larger
aircraft destined for the next-generation
single-aisle commercial aircraft. Given
the size of this market, technology in the
Geared Turbofan engine could make an
audible difference at every major airport
for the rest of the century.

How engines are serviced also affects
fuel consumption and emissions.
Pratt & Whitney Global Service Partners
increased its sales in 2006 by offering
expanded, integrated maintenance,
repair and overhaul solutions. This new
approach saves time for flight crews,
saves money for customers and keeps
engines flying cleaner.

LOS ANGELES INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT, CALIFORNIA
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A small footprint in the building, a big one in
the marketplace: that’s the beauty of the
Otis Gen2 elevator propulsion system. It’s so
compact it eliminates the need for a machine
room, allowing more efficient floor plans and
a better return on construction costs. It’s
also quieter, more reliable and better for the
environment than systems using conventional
steel cables. The patented Gen2 combination
of flat coated-steel belts, gearless machine and
permanent-magnet motor minimizes noise,
vibration and energy consumption while
eliminating the need for cable and gear
lubricants. Nearly 80,000 Gen2 systems have
been sold since the product’s introduction
in 2000. New models released in 2006
bring the benefits of the system to more
markets than ever.
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FITTING
SOLUTION
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Urbanization is transforming countries

and challenging resources. UTC’s

businesses are proving that environ-

mental responsibility strengthens

product design, opening new markets

while helping people live and work

in healthier, more secure and more

comfortable surroundings.

The Otis Gen2 elevator is a perfect example:
it saves space and energy, reduces the
need for lubrication, and frees architects
and developers from traditional design
constraints. Six years after its introduction,
the Gen2 product line serves more building
types than ever. In Dubai, Gen2 elevators
will soon serve residents of the world’s
tallest building and one of the largest
artificial islands ever built. From airport
terminals and shopping malls to low-, mid-
and high-rise buildings, Otis products
move more than a billion people a day
safely and efficiently.

Carrier is winning contracts around the
globe by helping developers overcome
environmental challenges with efficient
and flexible systems that use non-ozone-
depleting refrigerants. Carrier’s newest
equipment, including the Evergreen 23XRV
chiller and the residential Infinity system,
delivers high energy efficiency without
compromising ozone protection. Carrier
offers customers the widest range of
environmentally responsible heating,
ventilation, air conditioning and
refrigeration options in the industry.

Today, UTC’s products are ubiquitous in
prestigious developments and the public
safety infrastructure of urban centers.
In Beijing, Carrier and Otis are major
suppliers to the 2008 Summer Olympics.
In New York, 7 World Trade Center is both
more convenient and more secure thanks
to systems from Carrier, Otis and Lenel,
a unit of UTC Fire & Security.

DUBAI MARINA, UNITED ARAB EMIRATES



Blade, yoke, shaft, gearbox: everything
comes together at the 326-pound titanium
rotor hub of the Sikorsky S-92 helicopter.
Built on the experience of years of
BLACK HAWK military missions, it
exemplifies the advanced design, superior
materials and rigorous testing that go
into every S-92 component. Introduced
into service in 2004, the S-92 helicopter
was the first commercial aircraft certified
to meet U.S. and international standards
for flaw-tolerant design. Since then it has
proven its safety and durability under an
extraordinary range of flying conditions.
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FIRST IN
CLASS
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Rough seas, rough air, long shifts and

hazardous materials are all in a day’s

work for helicopter and station crews on

platform duty for oil and gas companies.

Since program launch, the Sikorsky

S-92 helicopter and its H-92 military

variant have won nearly 100 orders from

commercial and government customers.

Offshore oil and gas operators have made

the S-92 helicopter their aircraft of choice

for its high capacity-to-cost ratio and

outstanding safety.

Carrying crews and equipment between
land and sea, S-92 helicopters often log as
much as eight or nine flight hours a day.
Throughout each trip, redundant systems
protect everyone on board while computers
track performance for ground-based
analysis to ensure the aircraft will remain
in top condition for its next run.

Hamilton Sundstrand control systems
provide an extra margin of safety and
reliability for the S-92 helicopter, as they
do for virtually every commercial aircraft
flying. Current S-92 models rely on

Hamilton Sundstrand flight control computers
and digital engine controls. Future versions
will add Hamilton Sundstrand fly-by-wire
technology, further enhancing command
and control by freeing pilots from the
constraints of manual systems.

For workers on the platform, UTC Fire &

Security provides equally crucial support.
UTC Fire & Security offers a broad line of
products and services that help protect life
and property against fire and chemical
spills in hazardous environments. Products
for offshore use include fixed emergency
foam systems for helipads as well as the
Eagle Quantum Premier programmable
system, which provides site-wide flame
and gas detection and automated fire
suppression capabilities.

The petrochemical industry is one of many
that depend on UTC’s products to perform
flawlessly in demanding circumstances.
We design, manufacture and service all our
products to live up to this responsibility.

GULF OF MEXICO
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How far will Carrier go to squeeze more
performance into an air conditioner?
The helical enhancements in these copper
Microtubes are just 0.25 mm wide and tall,
but they increase the inner surface area
by 50 percent, optimizing heat transfer in
Carrier’s Infinity series of residential air
conditioners. Since January 2006, new
central air conditioners and heat pumps
for the U.S. residential market must have a
minimum Seasonal Energy Efficiency Ratio
(SEER) rating of 13, a 30 percent increase
over previous standards. Taking technology
beyond the mandate, Carrier has pushed
the performance of some Infinity models to
21 SEER, saving consumers more than half
the energy some previous products required.
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MORE
FROM LESS
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Homeowners everywhere appreciate

the comfort of central air conditioning.

Carrier and other UTC businesses

are working to ensure that indoor

environments also are healthy, safe

and compatible with global environ-

mental needs.

The stakes are high, both for families and
the environment. The U.S. Department
of Energy estimates that by 2030, the
government’s new 13 SEER air conditioning
efficiency mandate will have saved
consumers $1 billion in energy costs and
avoided the need to construct 39 power
plants. At the same time, it will have
reduced carbon emissions by 33 million
metric tons, equivalent to the effect of
3 million cars per year. As the North
American industry leader, Carrier led
support of the final standard.

Another milestone will come in 2010,
when new air conditioners using the most
prevalent ozone-depleting refrigerant for
the U.S. residential marketplace are phased
out. Carrier is already 2010 compliant,
thanks to its non-ozone-depleting Puron
refrigerant and the $250 million investment
that led to its Infinity product line.

UTC Fire & Security products protect
millions of families and homes from fire,
smoke and other hazards such as gas
leaks and carbon monoxide (CO). The risk
of carbon monoxide poisoning has led a
growing number of U.S. states to mandate
the installation of CO alarms in residential
dwellings. A new product line introduced
by Kidde, a unit of UTC Fire & Security,
incorporates patented electrochemical
sensors and provides the most accurate
CO alarm available today.

Integrated systems that control a variety
of building functions can improve indoor
comfort and energy savings simultaneously.
UTC Power PureComfort systems have
proven the case in commercial settings,
combining chillers with microturbines or
reciprocating engines to provide cooling,
heating and electrical power for a fraction
of the fuel cost of traditional separate
systems. Carrier Hybrid Heat systems
bring home the benefits for residential
users, pairing gas furnaces with electric
heat pumps to provide year-round heating
and cooling comfort.

SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA
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UNITED TECHNOLOGIES RESEARCH CENTER

Approximately 500 scientists, engineers and staff work

together at United Technologies Research Center

(UTRC) to deliver state-of-the-art technologies for

UTC’s businesses. In aerospace, UTRC technologies

focus on advancing hypersonic flight and flight

systems integration. Technologies for industrial and

commercial building markets range from geothermal

power systems to integrated building controls that

improve efficiency, comfort, safety and security.

UTRC’s disciplined innovation process complements

the customer-focused development resources of UTC’s

businesses. The result: technologies that open markets,

expand opportunities and anticipate customer needs.

EMPLOYEE SCHOLAR PROGRAM

UTC is determined to have the best-educated

employees in the world. To this end, our global

Employee Scholar Program offers unmatched

educational incentives, including full tuition,

expenses and paid study time for accredited degree

programs. We then reward graduates with UTC

stock or comparable compensation. In turn,

they reward us with new knowledge, perspective

and motivation.

Since 1996, we have invested more than $600 million

in the Employee Scholar Program. During that time,

17,360 employees have earned a total of 20,830 degrees

and $159 million in UTC stock awards. In 2006,

13,282 employees pursued degrees in 47 countries.

BRAZIL ENROLLMENT NEARS 600

At universities in major cities across Brazil, UTC

employees are pursuing a variety of college and

graduate degrees under the Employee Scholar Program.

With 334 participants at Otis Brazil and 596 overall,

Brazil now ranks third in Employee Scholar Program

participation, surpassed only by the United States

and Poland.

ALWAYS LEARNING

Innovation fuels our growth. In 2006, we cultivated innovation through more than $3 billion a year in

company and customer funded research and development, and we invested more than $70 million in the

education and personal development of our employees.

UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO PARANÁ, CURITIBA, BRAZIL26 UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION
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OUR COMMITMENTS

Our Commitments define who we are and how we work.

They focus our businesses and move us forward.

PERFORMANCE
Our customers have a choice, and how we perform determines whether they choose us.

We aim high, set ambitious goals and deliver results, and we use customer feedback to

recalibrate when necessary. We move quickly and make timely, well-reasoned decisions

because our future depends on them. We invest authority where it needs to be, in the

hands of the people closest to the customer and the work.

INNOVATION
We are a company of ideas that are nurtured by a commitment to research and development.

The achievements of our founders inspire us to reach always for the next innovative and

powerful and marketable idea. We seek and share ideas openly and encourage diversity of

experience and opinion.

OPPORTUNITY
Our employees’ ideas and inspiration create opportunities constantly, and without limits.

We improve continuously everything we do, as a company and as individuals. We support

and pursue lifelong learning to expand our knowledge and capabilities and to engage with

the world outside UTC. Confidence spurs us to take risks, to experiment, to cooperate

with each other and, always, to learn from the consequences of our actions.

RESPONSIBILITY
Successful businesses improve the human condition. We maintain the highest ethical,

environmental and safety standards everywhere, and we encourage and celebrate our

employees’ active roles in their communities.

RESULTS
We are a preferred investment because we meet aggressive targets whatever the economic

environment. We communicate honestly and forthrightly to investors, and deliver

consistently what we promise. We are a company of realists and optimists, and we project

these values in everything we do.

28 UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION



UTC’s businesses grow by applying
innovative technologies and common
disciplines to the needs of markets and
nations. Here’s what we’ve done lately.
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2006 BUSINESS REVIEW

CARRIER

Climate, demographics, urbanization and environmental

responsibilities continue to propel long-term market

growth for Carrier. Relentless technological innovation

and a vast base of installed systems yielded additional

opportunities in 2006.

In the United States, Carrier greeted the new 13 SEER

(Seasonal Energy Efficiency Ratio) standard with a

breakthrough line of high-efficiency residential air

conditioners. Some Carrier models outperform the

efficiency requirement by more than 50 percent.

In China, the combination of efficient products and

the environmental advantages of non-ozone-depleting

technology helped Carrier win more than two-thirds

of the available heating, ventilation and air conditioning

(HVAC) contracts awarded by the end of 2006 for the

2008 Beijing Olympics venues.

In India, Carrier sales grew by 35 percent. Highlights

included a fourfold increase in the truck-trailer refrig-

eration business and a flagship refrigeration installation

for the HyperCity superstore chain in Mumbai.

Global concern for energy and environmental costs is

reinforcing demand for efficient solutions in both new

construction and existing buildings. Drawing on unique

resources such as its indoor air quality expertise and the

strength of UTRC, Carrier is well positioned for continued

organic growth through environmental leadership.

For more information, visit www.carrier.com.

HAMILTON SUNDSTRAND

In 2006, Hamilton Sundstrand continued its systems

integration work for the Boeing 787 Dreamliner in

preparation for first flight in 2007. In July, Hamilton

Sundstrand opened a Boeing 787 airplane power

system laboratory, a result of a multimillion-dollar

capital investment in systems integration development

and testing. From this lab in Illinois, engineers can

share data in real time with Hamilton Sundstrand sites

in Connecticut and California and Boeing sites in

Washington. This unique facility exemplifies the

innovations that have been made by Hamilton

Sundstrand as the leading systems provider for the

world’s airframe companies. The knowledge the lab

provides will benefit air carriers and passengers through

lower operating costs, a healthier cabin environment,

quieter operation and reduced emissions.

Its aerospace aftermarket business grew with the

signing of more than $1 billion in long-term agreements

with many of the world’s premier airlines.

Since 2005, Hamilton Sundstrand’s Space, Land &

Sea unit has been part of Lockheed Martin’s Orion

spacecraft team. In August, NASA selected the team

to design, develop and build the Orion Crew Exploration

Vehicle. This vehicle will serve the next generation of

manned space flight, carrying astronauts to the moon

and Mars within the next 20 years.

Industrial businesses Sullair, Sundyne and Milton Roy

also performed well. Sullair boosted sales dramatically,

particularly in China. Hamilton Sundstrand’s performance

resulted in a year of double-digit organic growth

throughout the company in both revenues and earnings.

For more information, visit www.hamiltonsundstrand.com.
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OTIS

Landmark wins, product line expansion and continued

innovation in technology and service led Otis to double-

digit growth in 2006.

Major contract awards included an order for

136 escalators and 41 elevators for the Number 10 Line

of the Beijing Subway, and a project involving

90 escalators and 48 Gen2 elevators for a 1.6 million-

square-foot mall complex in Kuwait.

The Gen2 elevator continues to be the fastest selling

product in Otis’ history. Since its introduction in 2000,

nearly 80,000 Gen2 systems have been sold. New

models now bring the environmental and space saving

benefits of machine-roomless design to a wide range

of smaller projects and low-rise buildings.

Internally, the implementation of eLogistics has

increased customer satisfaction and streamlined the

processing of new equipment orders, reducing cycle

time and overhead at every stage from sales to

supply chain to field installation. Service mechanics

benefited from the launch of the Otis Net community,

which provides online access to Otis’ unrivaled

technical expertise for collaborative problem solving

at job sites worldwide.

For more information, visit www.otis.com.
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PRATT & WHITNEY

Pratt & Whitney extended its lead in the Very Light Jet

market, reached key milestones in the Geared Turbofan

engine and military propulsion, achieved dramatic

growth in its large commercial engines aftermarket and

industrial gas turbine businesses, and continued stellar

performance in its liquid space propulsion business.

Three major programs established Pratt & Whitney

Canada’s PW600 family as the leader in Very Light

Jet propulsion. Pratt & Whitney Canada made its

first PW615F and PW610F deliveries and opened a

state-of-the-art manufacturing facility. With the

revolutionary technology in the Geared Turbofan

engine, Pratt & Whitney targets a larger market:

next-generation single-aisle commercial aircraft.

In December, the F-35 Lightning II made its inaugural

flight, powered by Pratt & Whitney’s F135 engine. With

more than 7,000 ground test hours and continued flight

testing, the F135 is demonstrating excellent performance,

safety and reliability.

Pratt & Whitney Global Service Partners grew revenues

by more than 25 percent through increased focus in

emerging international markets and distinctive

offerings such as comprehensive fleet management,

engine wash and line maintenance programs.

Pratt & Whitney Rocketdyne continued powering the
U.S. space program with engines lifting the space shuttle
and commercial and government satellites into orbit.
Work progressed on engines powering the crew and cargo
launch vehicles for NASA’s Vision for Space Exploration.

Pratt & Whitney Power Systems doubled revenues,
increasing sales of new units and growing industrial gas
turbine aftermarket parts and repairs revenues.

For more information, visit www.pratt-whitney.com.

www.otis.com
www.pw.utc.com
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SIKORSKY

Military and commercial businesses continue to

grow at Sikorsky. The United States military services

have embarked on a scheduled program of aircraft

replacement, creating a cyclical boom that has years

to run. On the commercial side, revenue from new

orders is up ninefold since 2002.

In 2006, the U.S. Marine Corps awarded Sikorsky a

$3 billion development contract for the CH-53K

helicopter, with an anticipated output of 156 new

aircraft. In response, Sikorsky more than doubled

its CH-53K engineering force and created a dedicated

campus to speed work on this heavy-lift, fly-by-wire

helicopter. Sikorsky also delivered the first new

production UH-60M BLACK HAWK helicopter to

the U.S. Army. The Army expects it ultimately will

need more than 1,200 of these newest BLACK HAWK

helicopters. Both the CH-53K and UH-60M helicopters

benefit from new manufacturing techniques that

require fewer parts and sharply reduce lifetime

operating costs.

Since program launch, Sikorsky has accumulated

nearly 100 orders for the S-92 helicopter and its H-92

military variant. The aircraft has performed superbly

in a wide range of environments, and maintenance

has benefited from an innovative program of total

helicopter care. By sending data from on-board

systems to Sikorsky’s Fleet Management Operations

Center, customers can obtain advance notice of

potential equipment issues, so adjustments can be

made before major symptoms occur.

For more information, visit www.sikorsky.com.

UTC FIRE & SECURITY

Urbanization, economic development and regulatory

changes have created a $3.5 billion fire and security

industry in China with double-digit annual growth rates.

To capitalize on this growth, UTC Fire & Security

invested in three leading Chinese fire safety companies.

It also established a new headquarters in Shanghai

and stepped up sourcing with manufacturers

throughout China.

Growth in the United States also was a focus.

UTC Fire & Security acquired Red Hawk Industries,

a security systems integrator specializing in products

for the financial services industry. The acquisition

complemented UTC Fire & Security’s strength in the

Canadian market and expanded the security services

branch network in North America. Other 2006

acquisitions included two fire safety companies

serving Florida and New York.

UTC Fire & Security continued to expand margins

with the help of UTC’s ACE (Achieving Competitive

Excellence) operating disciplines. Building on the

gains achieved in 2005 from rationalized back-office

functions and monitoring centers worldwide, more

than 45 additional projects in 2006 streamlined supply

chain management and reduced the company’s

manufacturing footprint. New productivity tools spurred

efficiency improvements in field operations.

Operating efficiency, sales and marketing effective-

ness, and accelerated investment in research and

development will continue to be important contributors

to UTC Fire & Security’s growth in 2007.

For more information, visit www.utcfireandsecurity.com.
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www.sikorsky.com
www.utcfireandsecurity.com


UTC POWER

Rising energy costs underscored the value of UTC Power

solutions in stationary, automotive and mass transit

applications in 2006. A PureCell solution created for

Verizon in Garden City, New York — the largest hydrogen

fuel cell installation in the United States — delivered

more than double the anticipated cost savings in its

first year of operation. Meanwhile, two Verizon call

centers in California installed PureComfort combined

cooling, heating and power solutions, meeting internal

building needs while lowering fuel costs and helping

the environment through green design.

New contract wins in transportation fuel cells included

one with a major automotive manufacturer, three for bus

programs in the United States and Europe, and one

with a shipbuilder to power a Spanish Navy submarine.

Untapped geothermal energy in the United States

could provide enough power to support up to 30 million

households. Geothermal energy is not only renewable,

but also available regardless of sun, wind or rain. Using

geothermal technology developed by UTRC, UTC Power

passed a milestone in August with the successful

installation of Alaska’s first geothermal power plant.

This UTC Power PureCycle system generates electricity

from the heat provided by underground spring water at

165°F, far lower than previous systems have required.

By making this clean, reliable option economically viable

at low temperatures, the PureCycle system expands the

potential market to hundreds of sites around the world.

For more information, visit www.utcpower.com.
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Five-Year Summary

( IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS) 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

For the year
Revenues $ 47,829 $ 42,725 $ 37,445 $ 31,034 $ 28,212

Research and development 1,529 1,367 1,267 1,040 1,203

Income before cumulative effect of a change

in accounting principle1 3,732 3,164 2,673 2,236 2,118

Net income 3,732 3,069 2,673 2,236 2,118

Earnings per share:

Basic:

Income before cumulative effect of a change

in accounting principle1 3.81 3.19 2.69 2.33 2.21

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle1 — (.09) — — —

Net income 3.81 3.10 2.69 2.33 2.21

Diluted:

Income before cumulative effect of a change

in accounting principle1 3.71 3.12 2.64 2.22 2.09

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle1 — (.09) — — —

Net income 3.71 3.03 2.64 2.22 2.09

Cash dividends per common share 1.02 .88 .70 .57 .49

Average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding:

Basic 980 991 993 948 945

Diluted 1,006 1,014 1,011 1,006 1,011

Cash flow from operations 4,803 4,334 3,596 2,827 2,829

Voluntary pension contributions2 190 663 906 994 530

Capital expenditures 954 929 795 530 586

Acquisitions, including debt assumed 1,049 4,583 1,295 2,305 424

Share repurchase 2,068 1,181 992 401 700

Dividends on Common Stock3 951 832 660 533 462

At year end
Working capital $ 3,636 $ 1,861 $ 2,575 $ 2,069 $ 4,050

Total assets4 47,141 45,925 40,441 35,674 30,254

Long-term debt, including current portion 7,074 6,628 4,271 4,632 4,676

Total debt 7,931 8,240 5,591 5,301 4,873

Debt to total capitalization4 31% 33% 28% 31% 36%

ESOP Preferred Stock, net5 — — — — 428

Shareowners’ equity4 17,297 16,991 14,266 11,953 8,557

Number of employees 214,500 218,200 209,700 203,300 155,000

Note 1: During 2005, we acquired Kidde, which in conjunction with Chubb (acquired during 2003) forms the UTC Fire & Security segment.
Note 2: During 2005, a 2-for-1 split of our common stock was effected in the form of a share dividend. All common share and per share amounts for periods prior to the split
have been adjusted to reflect the split.

1During 2005, we adopted the provisions of FIN 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations” and SFAS 123R, “Share-Based Payment.”
2Represents the cash contribution amount. In addition, during 2006, 2005 and 2002 we contributed UTC common stock of $150, $157 and $253, respectively.
3Excludes dividends paid on Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP) common stock.
4During 2006, we adopted the provisions of SFAS 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans – an amendment of FASB State-
ments No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R),” which resulted in an approximately $1.8 billion non-cash charge to equity and a $2.4 billion non-cash reduction to total assets.

5During 2003, we converted all of our outstanding shares of ESOP Preferred Stock into common stock.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Business Overview
We are a global provider of high technology products and
services to the building systems and aerospace industries.
Our operations are classified into six principal business seg-
ments: Otis, Carrier, UTC Fire & Security, Pratt & Whitney,
Hamilton Sundstrand and Sikorsky Aircraft. Otis, Carrier
and UTC Fire & Security are collectively referred to as the
“commercial businesses,” while Pratt & Whitney, Hamil-
ton Sundstrand and Sikorsky are collectively referred to as
the “aerospace businesses.” The commercial businesses
generally serve customers in the worldwide commercial
and residential property industries, although Carrier also
serves customers in the commercial and transport refrig-
eration industries. The aerospace businesses serve both
commercial and government aerospace customers. In addi-
tion, a portion of these businesses serve customers in the
industrial markets. Our consolidated revenues were derived
from the commercial and aerospace businesses as follows

(revenues from Hamilton Sundstrand’s and Pratt & Whitney’s
industrial markets are included in “commercial and industrial”):

2006 2005 2004

Commercial and industrial 63% 64% 64%

Military aerospace and space 16% 16% 18%

Commercial aerospace 21% 20% 18%

100% 100% 100%

In 2006, approximately 59% of our consolidated sales were
original equipment and 41% aftermarket parts and services. For
both 2005 and 2004 the amounts were 58% and 42%, respectively.

Our strategy is to maintain balance across our businesses
in order to limit the impact of any one industry or the economy
of any single country on our consolidated operating results.
This balance is managed, in part, through the commercial
and aerospace revenue split noted above, as well as through
the geographic diversity that has evolved with the continued
globalization of world economies. The composition of total rev-
enues from outside the United States, including U.S. export
sales, in dollars and as a percentage of total segment revenues,
was as follows:

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004

Europe $12,069 $11,255 $ 9,389 25% 26% 25%

Asia Pacific 7,056 6,525 5,717 15% 15% 15%

Other Non-U.S. 4,809 4,137 3,288 10% 10% 9%

U.S. Exports 4,848 4,124 3,563 10% 10% 10%

International segment revenues $28,782 $26,041 $21,957 60% 61% 59%

As part of our growth strategy, we invest in businesses in
certain countries, such as Argentina, Brazil, China, India, Rus-
sia and South Africa that carry high levels of currency, political
and/or economic risk. At December 31, 2006, our investment
in any one of these countries did not exceed 2.5% of consoli-
dated shareowners’ equity.

The strength and value of our business balance mani-
fested itself in the 2006 operating results. The strong aerospace
market generated better than expected commercial aftermar-
ket volumes. This volume, coupled with strong performance at
Otis and generally positive worldwide economic conditions,
generated solid organic revenue growth of 9% in 2006, and
more than offset the lower than expected results at Carrier and
Sikorsky. A downturn in the U.S. housing market in the sec-
ond half of 2006 resulted in a decline in shipments of Carrier’s
split systems of approximately 30% in the third quarter and
50% in the fourth quarter of 2006 as compared with the same
periods in the prior year. While a market impact resulting from
the additional 2005 shipments that occurred in advance of the
January 2006 13 SEER minimum efficiency standard change
(13 SEER pre-buy) was expected, the significant downturn
in the U.S. housing industry and its effect on the residential
heating, ventilating and air conditioning (HVAC) market was
not anticipated. In addition, operating results were adversely
impacted by supplier issues and manufacturing inefficiencies
associated with the production ramp up of the completely new
13 SEER product line. The commercial HVAC market remained
strong throughout 2006. Although the weakness in the U.S.
housing market is expected to continue into 2007, the impact
of the 13 SEER pre-buy compare issue will phase out in the
second quarter. Global commercial construction is expected
to remain strong in 2007.

Operating results were also impacted by a strike of Sikor-
sky’s union workforce at its Connecticut and Florida facilities
in February through early April 2006. Although manufactur-
ing efforts continued to some extent during the strike, the
strike had an adverse impact on operating results due to lower
volumes and higher than average manufacturing costs as
manufacturing operations ramped back up to full production
levels. Although helicopter deliveries improved significantly
following the resumption of full production, Sikorsky contin-
ues to incur additional manufacturing costs as it works to
accommodate the steep ramp up required to meet production
requirements for more complex helicopters and a record back-
log. This ramp up will require a near doubling of Sikorsky’s
helicopter unit volume over the next two years. Complicating
the recovery from the strike and the increasing production
requirements has been the concurrent effort for the reconfigu-
ration of Sikorsky’s manufacturing processes including the
sourcing of certain activities and the transfer of work to other
manufacturing facilities to increase capacity. Progress on
these matters will continue throughout 2007 with deliveries
projected to be back on schedule towards the end of 2007.

In addition to revenue growth, an improvement in con-
solidated operating profit margin also contributed to the
strong growth in earnings per share. Operating profit mar-
gin increased 70 basis points to 12.8% in 2006 as compared
with 2005. Savings from previous restructuring actions,
ongoing acquisition integration efforts and continued cost
containment measures contributed to the operating margin
improvement. Further improvement was generated by vari-
ous gains and other benefits realized during 2006 including
an approximately $80 million reserve reversal on the settle-
ment of a Department of Defense (DoD) claim against Pratt &
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Whitney related to cost accounting practices for commercial
engine parts on collaboration programs, and an approximately
$60 million gain on Carrier’s sale of its interest in a com-
pressor manufacturing joint venture. These operating profit
improvements were partially offset by the adverse impact of
commodity and energy cost increases, increased manufac-
turing costs associated with the previously noted Sikorsky
and Carrier production issues as well as the market declines
in Carrier’s North American residential market. Increases in
energy and certain commodity prices seen over the last two
years continued in 2006. After a partial recovery through price
increases, commodity and energy cost increases had a net
negative impact on operating results for 2006 of approximately
$280 million. Continuing cost increases are expected to have a
further adverse impact of approximately $150 million in 2007.
To help generate future margin growth, we also invested an
additional $288 million and $267 million in 2006 and 2005,
respectively, in restructuring actions across our businesses.

In addition to organic revenue growth, including growth
from new product development and product improvements,
our earnings growth strategy also contemplates investments in
acquisitions. We invested $1.0 billion and $4.6 billion, including
debt assumed of $138 million and $520 million, in the acquisi-
tion of businesses across all our operations in 2006 and 2005,
respectively. Acquisitions in 2006 consisted principally of a
number of smaller acquisitions including Red Hawk Industries
by UTC Fire & Security, Page Group Ltd. by Hamilton Sund-
strand and Longville Group Ltd. and Sensitech, Inc. by Carrier.
The 2005 acquisitions, which contributed approximately half
of our revenue growth in 2005, included Kidde (acquired for
$3.1 billion), Rocketdyne Power & Propulsion (acquired for
$700 million) and Lenel Systems International, Inc. (acquired
for $440 million). These acquisitions helped contribute to both
revenue and operating profit growth in 2006 and 2005.

For additional discussion of acquisitions and restructuring,
see “Liquidity and Financing Commitments,” “Restructur-
ing and Other Costs” and Notes 2 and 11 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Results of Operations

Revenues

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005 2004

Sales $47,118 $42,278 $36,700

Financing revenues and

other income, net 711 447 745

Revenues $47,829 $42,725 $37,445

The consolidated revenue increase of 12% in 2006 to
$47.8 billion reflects organic growth of 9%, revenues from
acquisitions of 2%, and the favorable impact of foreign cur-
rency translation of 1%. All segments experienced organic
sales growth in 2006 led by the aerospace businesses, which
benefited from strong commercial volumes, particularly after-
market, and helicopter and aftermarket services demand.
Military original equipment market (OEM) revenue growth
was also strong at Pratt & Whitney and Sikorsky, while military
aftermarket growth at Sikorsky was offset partially by declines
at Pratt & Whitney. Within the commercial businesses, gen-
erally favorable worldwide economic conditions for most of
the year resulted in revenue increases across all geographic

regions. Otis also benefited from a strong order backlog coming
into 2006. Carrier’s revenues increased as a result of generally
strong North American and international commercial HVAC
markets, price increases, and the transition to the higher value
13 SEER product, which was offset in part by significantly
lower unit shipments of U.S. residential product.

The consolidated revenue increase of 14% in 2005 to
$42.7 billion reflected organic growth of 7% and revenues from
acquisitions of 7%. Acquisition revenues principally resulted
from the acquisition of Kidde in the second quarter of 2005,
and Carrier’s acquisition of Linde in the fourth quarter of 2004.
Similar to 2006, all segments experienced organic growth in
2005 due principally to a strong commercial aerospace market
and generally favorable worldwide economic conditions.

The increase in financing revenues and other income, net,
consisted partially of gains realized on the sale of certain non-
core assets, including a gain of approximately $60 million on
Carrier’s sale of its interest in a compressor manufacturing joint
venture, and a gain of $25 million on Pratt & Whitney’s sale
of a partnership interest in a small engine line. The remaining
increase consisted of higher joint venture income, higher inter-
est income and the benefit from lower hedging costs associated
with our cash management activities (combined $131 mil-
lion). The increase in interest income resulted principally from
the approximately $30 million associated with the final 1994
through 1999 tax settlement with the Appeals Division of the
Internal Revenue Service (IRS).

Gross Margin

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005 2004

Gross margin $12,378 $11,343 $9,458

Percentage of sales 26.3% 26.8% 25.8%

Gross margin (product and service sales less cost of prod-
uct and services sold) increases in 2006 resulted from higher
commercial aerospace aftermarket volume, savings from pre-
viously initiated restructuring actions, and net operational
efficiencies. Gross margin also included a benefit from an
approximately $80 million reserve reversal (approximately 20
basis points) on the settlement of the DoD claim against Pratt
& Whitney. However, gross margin as a percentage of sales
declined 50 basis points as these benefits were more than off-
set by the adverse impact of higher commodity and energy
prices (approximately 60 basis points), higher manufacturing
costs at Sikorsky related to the strike, subsequent ramp up to
full production and an unfavorable mix (approximately 20 basis
points), and supplier issues and manufacturing inefficiencies
associated with the ramp up of 13 SEER production (approxi-
mately 10 basis points).

The improvement in gross margin in 2005 as compared
with 2004 is primarily the result of lower restructuring costs
of $365 million (approximately 90 basis points). After a partial
recovery through pricing, increased commodity and energy
costs had a net adverse impact on gross margin of approxi-
mately $150 million (approximately 40 basis points), which was
effectively offset by the savings realized on current and prior
year restructuring actions, operational efficiencies and a better
mix in the aerospace businesses including higher commercial
aftermarket sales.
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Research and Development

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005 2004

Company funded $1,529 $1,367 $1,267

Percentage of sales 3.2% 3.2% 3.5%

Customer funded $1,621 $1,478 $1,585

Percentage of sales 3.4% 3.5% 4.3%

The 12% increase in company funded research and
development in 2006 is primarily attributable to spending
on the Boeing 787 program at Hamilton Sundstrand (5%),
new platform spending at Pratt & Whitney Canada for small
engines (3%) and spending at Pratt & Whitney (2%), including
the next generation single aisle aircraft. The increase in com-
pany funded research and development in 2005 as compared
with 2004 is primarily attributable to spending on the Boeing
787 program (3%), the H-92 program (2%) and to spending
at companies acquired by Carrier and UTC Fire & Security
(combined 3%). Company funded research and development
spending is subject to the variable nature of program develop-
ment schedules.

The 2006 increase in customer funded research and
development is primarily attributable to military and space pro-
grams at Pratt & Whitney, Hamilton Sundstrand and Sikorsky.
The 2005 decrease in customer funded research and devel-
opment was principally the result of the Comanche program
termination at Sikorsky (15%), offset partially by increased
space development spending at Hamilton Sundstrand associ-
ated with ongoing efforts at acquired companies.

Company funded research and development spending for
the full year 2007 is expected to approximate 2006 levels due
principally to continued spending on aircraft programs such as
the Boeing 787 and the next generation single aisle aircraft.

Selling, General and Administrative

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005 2004

Selling, general and

administrative $5,462 $5,241 $4,635

Percentage of sales 11.6% 12.4% 12.6%

Both the 2006 and 2005 increase in selling, general and
administrative expenses is due principally to acquisitions and
general increases across the businesses in support of higher
volumes. The reduction as a percent of sales is attributable to
cost control initiatives and to the savings from prior restructur-
ing actions.

Interest Expense

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005 2004

Interest expense $606 $498 $363

Average interest rate during

the year:

Short-term borrowings 6.2% 5.5% 4.9%

Total debt 6.4% 6.3% 6.3%

Interest expense increased in 2006, primarily as a result
of the $2.4 billion issuance of long-term debt in April 2005 in
connection with the acquisitions of Kidde, Rocketdyne and
Lenel, higher average commercial paper balances, as well as
higher average interest rates on short-term borrowings, and
the additional $1.1 billion long-term debt issuance in May

2006. The increase in 2005 as compared to 2004 was also due
to the April 2005 long-term debt issuance, a higher average
commercial paper balance and higher average interest rates
on short-term borrowings.

The average interest rate for commercial paper increased
in 2006 as compared to 2005 generating the increase in the
average short-term borrowing rate. The weighted-average
interest rate applicable to debt outstanding at December 31,
2006 was 5.9% for short-term borrowings and 6.1% for total
debt as compared to 5.2% and 6.1%, respectively, at Decem-
ber 31, 2005.

Income Taxes

2006 2005 2004

Effective income tax rate 27.2% 26.8% 26.2%

The effective tax rate for 2006, 2005 and 2004 reflects the
tax benefit associated with lower tax rates on international
earnings, which we intend to permanently reinvest outside the
United States.

In the normal course of business, various tax authori-
ties examine us, including the IRS. The 2005 effective tax rate
reflects an approximately $66 million reduction in tax expense
primarily as a result of the reevaluation of our liabilities and
contingencies in light of the completion and commencement
of exam cycles. In 2006, a residual disputed issue related to the
1999 disposition of a business segment was settled with the
Appeals Division of the IRS and was reviewed by the U.S. Con-
gress Joint Committee on Taxation. The settlement resulted
in an approximately $35 million reduction in tax expense. The
2004 effective tax rate reflects an approximately $80 million
reduction in tax expense as a result of a settlement with the
IRS with respect to claims and other disputed items related
to the 1986 to 1993 tax years. In 2007, we expect that the IRS
will complete the examination phase of the 2000 through 2003
audit and commence examination of 2004 and 2005. Although
the outcome of these matters cannot currently be determined,
we believe adequate provision has been made for any poten-
tially unfavorable financial statement impact.

The 2005 effective rate reflects a benefit of approximately
$135 million related to an amended return, filed in 2005, which
claimed credits for 2003 foreign taxes previously recognized as
deductions. The 2005 effective tax rate also reflects a tax benefit
of approximately $19 million associated with non-core business
divestitures. We recognized a tax cost related to the tax gain
from the sale of a Hamilton Sundstrand division, and tax ben-
efits related to tax losses from the sale of a Carrier refrigeration
operation and the sale and liquidation of a Pratt & Whitney sub-
sidiary. The third-party sales did not result in significant pre-tax
gains or losses for financial reporting purposes.

The American Jobs Creation Act, signed into law in Octo-
ber 2004, provided an opportunity in 2005 to repatriate up to
$500 million of reinvested foreign earnings and to claim an 85%
dividend received deduction against the repatriated amount.
We evaluated the potential effects of the repatriation provision
and decided not to repatriate earnings under the provision.

We expect our effective income tax rate in 2007 to be
approximately 28%, before the impacts of any discrete events.

For additional discussion of income taxes, see “Critical
Accounting Estimates – Income Taxes” and Note 9 to the Con-
solidated Financial Statements.
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Net Income and Earnings Per Share

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS,

EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS) 2006 2005 2004

Income before cumulative effect

of a change in accounting

principle $3,732 $3,164 $2,673

Cumulative effect of a change

in accounting principle — (95) —

Net income $3,732 $3,069 $2,673

Diluted Earnings per Share:

Income before cumulative

effect of a change in

accounting principle $ 3.71 $ 3.12 $ 2.64

Cumulative effect of a

change in accounting

principle — (.09) —

Diluted Earnings per Share $ 3.71 $ 3.03 $ 2.64

Foreign currency translation had a favorable impact of
$.01 per share in 2006, did not have a significant impact on
earnings per share in 2005 and had a favorable impact of $.09
per share in 2004. As discussed in Note 1 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements, we adopted the provisions of Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 47,
“Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations (an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 143)” effective December
31, 2005. The cumulative effect of this adoption reduced 2005
diluted earnings per share by $.09 and did not have a signifi-
cant impact to 2006 operating results.

Restructuring and Other Costs
We recorded net pre-tax restructuring and related charges
totaling $288 million in 2006 and $267 million in 2005 for new
and ongoing restructuring actions. We recorded these charges
in the segments as follows:

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005

Otis $46 $52

Carrier 69 80

UTC Fire & Security 44 21

Pratt & Whitney 68 39

Hamilton Sundstrand 40 66

Sikorsky 21 3

Eliminations and Other — 6

The 2006 charges include $223 million in cost of sales,
$64 million in selling, general and administrative expenses
and $1 million in other income. The 2005 charges include
$180 million in cost of sales, $73 million in selling, general
and administrative expenses and $14 million in other income.
As described below, these charges relate to actions initiated
during 2006, 2005 and certain actions initiated in the fourth
quarter of 2004.

Restructuring actions are an essential component of our
operating margin improvement efforts and relate to both exist-
ing operations and those recently acquired. We have acquired
certain businesses at beneficial values, such as Linde, Chubb
and Kidde, with the expectation of restructuring the underly-
ing cost structure in order to bring operating margins up to
expected levels. Restructuring actions focus on streamlining

costs through workforce reductions, the consolidation of man-
ufacturing, sales and service facilities, and the transfer of work
to more cost-effective locations. For acquisitions, the costs of
restructuring actions, contemplated at the date of acquisition,
are recorded under purchase accounting. Actions initiated
subsequently are recorded through operating results.

2006 ACTIONS. During 2006, we initiated restructuring actions
relating to ongoing cost reduction efforts, including selling,
general and administrative reductions, principally at Carrier
and UTC Fire & Security; workforce reductions, principally in
Korea at Otis and Carrier and voluntary separations at Sikor-
sky; and the consolidation of manufacturing facilities. These
actions, when complete, will provide for workforce reductions
of approximately 3,800 hourly and salaried employees, the exit-
ing of approximately 500,000 net square feet of facilities and the
disposal of assets associated with the exited facilities. Savings
are expected to increase over the two-year period subsequent
to initiating the actions, resulting in recurring pre-tax savings
of approximately $150 million. We expect pre-tax cash outflows
on these programs to be approximately $230 million, of which
$130 million has been funded to date.

2005 ACTIONS. During 2005, the more significant actions related
to the consolidation of manufacturing operations at Hamilton
Sundstrand, including the closure of a portion of Rockford man-
ufacturing, and general overhead reduction efforts principally
at Pratt & Whitney and Carrier. These actions, when complete,
will provide for workforce reductions of approximately 2,900
hourly and salaried employees, the exiting of approximately
1.2 million net square feet of facilities and the disposal of assets
associated with the exited facilities. Savings are expected to
increase over the two-year period subsequent to initiating the
actions, resulting in recurring pre-tax savings of approximately
$115 million. We expect pre-tax cash outflows on these pro-
grams to be approximately $145 million, of which $135 million
has been funded to date.

2004 ACTIONS. During 2004, we focused on a reduction of
our manufacturing footprint. Two of the more significant
announced closures, Carrier’s McMinnville, Tennessee com-
mercial air conditioning and ventilation product manufacturing
facility and Hamilton Sundstrand’s Rockford, Illinois electron-
ics manufacturing facility, were completed during the first
quarter of 2006. All other actions were completed during 2005.
The 2004 actions resulted in workforce reductions of approxi-
mately 5,400 hourly and salaried employees, the exiting of
approximately 5.5 million net square feet of facilities and the
disposal of assets associated with the exited facilities. These
actions resulted in recurring pre-tax savings of approximately
$295 million annually. Pre-tax cash outflows on these programs
were approximately $370 million.

We may initiate additional restructuring actions in 2007
through our continuing cost-reduction efforts. No specific
plans for significant new actions have been finalized at this
time. However, it is management’s expectation that when sig-
nificant favorable items are recorded in a period, restructuring
actions may also be initiated in that period when practical.

For additional discussion of restructuring, see Note 11 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The financial performance of our commercial businesses can
be influenced by a number of external factors including fluc-
tuations in residential and commercial construction activity,
interest rates, labor costs, foreign currency exchange rates,
customer attrition, raw material and energy costs and other
global and political factors. Carrier’s financial performance can
also be influenced by production and utilization of transport
equipment, and in its residential business, weather condi-
tions. In 2006, 68% of total commercial business revenues was
generated outside the U.S., as compared to 69% in 2005. The
following table shows revenues generated outside the U.S. for
each of the segments in our commercial businesses:

2006 2005

Otis 80% 80%

Carrier 54% 55%

UTC Fire & Security 84% 87%

OTIS is the world’s largest elevator and escalator manufacturing,
installation and service company. Otis designs, manufactures,
sells and installs a wide range of passenger and freight eleva-
tors for low-, medium- and high-speed applications, as well as
a broad line of escalators and moving walkways. In addition
to new equipment, Otis provides modernization products to
upgrade elevators and escalators as well as maintenance ser-
vices for both its products and those of other manufacturers.
Otis serves customers in the commercial and residential prop-
erty industries around the world. Sales are made both directly
to customers and, to a limited extent, through sales representa-
tives and distributors.

New equipment orders remained strong throughout
2006, with double digit increases in North America and Asia
resulting in an increased closing backlog. Within Asia, strong
order growth in China was partially offset by Korea, and pric-
ing remained under significant pressure. These conditions are
expected to continue into 2007.

In 2006, Otis revenues increased $715 million (7%),
reflecting growth in all geographic regions aided by a strong
opening backlog in North America, Europe and China. The
2006 increase reflects volume growth (6%) and the favorable
impact of foreign currency translation (1%). The 2005 increase
of $638 million (7%) reflects volume growth (5%) in all geo-
graphic regions, and the favorable impact of foreign currency
translation (2%).

Otis operating profits increased $176 million (10%) in 2006
compared with 2005. The operating profit increase reflects
profit improvement at constant currency due to higher volume,
product cost reduction and operational efficiencies (9%) and

the favorable impact of foreign currency translation (1%). Oper-
ating profits increased $299 million (21%) in 2005 compared
to 2004. The operating profit increase reflects profit improve-
ment at constant currency due to higher volume, product cost
reduction and operational efficiencies (12%), lower restructur-
ing charges (7%) and the favorable impact of foreign currency
translation (2%).

CARRIER is the world’s largest manufacturer and distributor of
HVAC and refrigeration systems. It also produces food service
equipment and HVAC and refrigeration related controls for
residential, commercial, industrial and transportation applica-
tions. Carrier also provides installation, retrofit and aftermarket
services and components for the products it sells and those of
other manufacturers in the HVAC and refrigeration industries.
Sales are made both directly to the end customer and through
manufacturers’ representatives, distributors, wholesalers, deal-
ers and retail outlets.

In the first half of 2006, strong demand in the commercial
HVAC and refrigeration business, a positive North American
construction market and a transition in the U.S. residential
market to the higher value 13 SEER product, all contributed to
generate strong organic growth. Volume growth within trans-
port refrigeration was generated primarily in the truck/trailer
refrigeration business as the container refrigeration market
was essentially flat. While both the North American and inter-
national commercial HVAC and refrigeration markets remained
strong throughout the balance of the year, a significant down-
turn in the North American residential housing industry and
difficult compares from the 2005 13 SEER pre-buy led to declin-
ing orders and shipments in Carrier’s residential business in
the second half of 2006. Carrier’s residential split system unit
shipments dropped by approximately 30% in the third quar-
ter and 50% in the fourth quarter. Further contributing to the
second-half reduction in North American residential revenues
was a decline in gas furnace shipments due to the softening
housing market and the unseasonably mild weather at the end
of 2006.

As a result of commodity cost increases in 2006 and 2005,
Carrier implemented price increases on many of its products,
which partially offset the impact in both years. Cost pressures
from commodity price increases are expected to continue in
2007, however, we expect to offset these increases through
additional price increases. Certain of Carrier’s HVAC businesses
are seasonal and are impacted by weather. Carrier customarily
offers its customers incentives to purchase products to ensure
adequate supply of our products in the distribution channel.

Segment Review

Revenues Operating Profits Operating Profit Margin

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004

Otis $10,290 $9,575 $8,937 $1,888 $1,712 $1,413 18.3% 17.9% 15.8%

Carrier 13,481 12,512 10,620 1,237 1,104 830 9.2% 8.8% 7.8%

UTC Fire & Security 4,747 4,250 2,879 301 235 130 6.3% 5.5% 4.5%

Pratt & Whitney 11,112 9,295 8,281 1,817 1,449 1,083 16.4% 15.6% 13.1%

Hamilton Sundstrand 4,995 4,382 3,921 832 675 583 16.7% 15.4% 14.9%

Sikorsky 3,230 2,802 2,506 173 250 200 5.4% 8.9% 8.0%

Commercial Businesses
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Carrier’s revenues increased $969 million (8%) in 2006
compared to 2005. Organic revenue growth for the year was
5%, driven primarily by the commercial and international HVAC
businesses. Unit orders in the North American residential mar-
ket declined substantially due to a market downturn and the 13
SEER pre-buy activity. However, revenues increased overall as
a result of higher value 13 SEER product and pricing increases.
Revenues from acquisitions (1%), the favorable impact of for-
eign currency translation (1%) and gains from dispositions
(1%), principally the third quarter 2006 sale of Carrier’s interest
in a compressor manufacturing joint venture, generated the
remaining revenue growth. Revenues increased $1,892 mil-
lion (18%) in 2005 compared to 2004. The increase primarily
resulted from acquisitions (9%), principally Linde, and growth
in the North American HVAC business (6%).

Carrier’s operating profits increased $133 million (12%) in
2006 compared to 2005. The operating profit improvement was
generated principally by higher volumes and the benefits from
previous restructuring actions, partially offset by manufacturing
inefficiencies associated with the ramp up of 13 SEER produc-
tion and the decline in North American residential volume (net
7%). Gains from dispositions (6%), principally the third quarter
2006 sale of Carrier’s interest in a compressor manufacturing
joint venture, lower restructuring charges (1%) and the favor-
able impact of foreign currency translation (1%) were partially
offset by the impact of higher commodity and energy costs,
net of price increases (3%). Carrier’s operating profits increased
$274 million (33%) in 2005 compared to 2004 due in large part
to a reduction in restructuring charges of $161 million (19%).
The net impact of higher volumes and restructuring benefits
(15%), Linde (8%), and favorable currency translation (1%) was
partially offset by higher commodity costs including a related
last-in, first-out (LIFO) charge, net of price increases (6%) and
the expenses related to the new 13 SEER platform (4%).

UTC FIRE & SECURITY is a global provider of security and fire
safety products and services. We created the UTC Fire & Secu-
rity segment in the second quarter of 2005 upon acquiring
Kidde. The UTC Fire & Security segment includes our former
Chubb segment, Kidde’s industrial, retail and commercial fire
safety businesses and Lenel, a leader in the development and
delivery of scalable, integrated security software systems and
business solutions. In the electronic security industry, UTC Fire
& Security provides system integration, installation and service
of intruder alarms, access control systems and video surveil-
lance systems. In the fire safety industry, UTC Fire & Security
designs, manufactures, integrates, installs and services fire
and specialty hazard detection and fixed suppression systems
and manufactures, sells and services portable fire extinguish-
ers and other fire fighting equipment. UTC Fire & Security also
provides monitoring, response and security personnel services,
including cash-in-transit security, to complement its electronic
security and fire safety businesses. UTC Fire & Security’s oper-
ations are predominantly outside the U.S. UTC Fire & Security
sells directly to the customer as well as through manufacturers’
representatives, distributors and dealers.

UTC Fire & Security’s revenues increased $497 million
(12%) in 2006 as compared with 2005 due largely to acquisi-
tions (10%), principally Kidde, with volume, price increases
and foreign exchange translation (combined 2%) contributing

the remainder. Revenues increased $1,371 million (48%) in 2005
as compared with 2004 due largely to the acquisition of Kidde
(43%) in the second quarter. Volume and pricing increases
(combined 3%) and foreign currency translation (2%), contrib-
uted the remainder.

Operating profit increased $66 million (28%) in 2006
as compared with 2005. The majority of the operating profit
increase was generated principally from the cost reductions
realized on previous restructuring actions and some slight vol-
ume related impact (combined 35%), in line with management’s
focus on integration efforts and margin expansion. Further
operating profit increases from acquisitions (9%), principally
Kidde, were offset by additional restructuring charges (10%)
and the adverse impact of higher commodity costs (4%). Oper-
ating profit increased $105 million (81%) in 2005 as compared
with 2004, with acquisitions (63%) contributing the majority.
The balance of the operating profit increase was generated
principally from increased volume, pricing and net cost reduc-
tions from previous restructuring actions (combined 27%),
offset partially by additional restructuring charges (16%).

Aerospace Businesses
The financial performance of Pratt & Whitney, Hamilton Sund-
strand and Sikorsky is directly tied to the economic conditions
of the commercial aerospace and defense industries. Traffic
growth, load factors, worldwide airline profits, general eco-
nomic activity and global defense spending have been reliable
indicators for new aircraft and aftermarket orders in the aero-
space industry. Spare part sales and aftermarket service trends
are affected by many factors including usage, pricing, regula-
tory changes and retirement of older aircraft. Performance in
the general aviation sector is closely tied to the overall health of
the economy and is positively correlated to corporate profits.

The continued growth in revenue passenger miles (RPMs)
is benefiting both commercial aircraft production as well as
aftermarket service and spares revenue levels. However, as
the commercial airline industry continues its recovery after
years of poor financial performance, which was exacerbated
by escalating fuel prices, airlines and aircraft manufacturers
will continue to pursue lower-cost products and services from
their suppliers. The bankruptcy filings of major U.S. airlines
during 2005 did not have a significant impact on our operat-
ing results. Notwithstanding the poor health of the airlines,
strong production levels at airframers, as well as the continued
high usage of aircraft, as evidenced by the growth in RPMs,
drove growth in the aerospace businesses in 2006. Growth
was further augmented by strong commercial helicopter sales,
resulting partially from higher corporate profits and increased
oil industry activity, and record military helicopter orders.
Further increases in RPMs and continued positive global eco-
nomic conditions are expected to result in additional increases
to commercial aerospace volume in 2007. However, the rate
of growth in the commercial aerospace aftermarket realized
in 2006 is not expected to be sustainable and is projected to
decline in 2007 to approximately half of the 2006 levels.

Our total sales to the U.S. government increased in 2006
to $6.4 billion or 14% of total sales, compared with $5.8 billion
or 14% of total sales in 2005 and $5.5 billion or 15% of total
sales in 2004. The defense portion of our aerospace business
is affected by changes in market demand and the global politi-
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cal environment. Our participation in long-term production
and development programs for the U.S. government has con-
tributed positively to our results in 2006 and is expected to
continue to benefit results in 2007.

PRATT & WHITNEY is among the world’s leading suppliers of
commercial, general aviation and military aircraft engines.
Pratt & Whitney’s Global Service Partners provides mainte-
nance, repair and overhaul services, including the sale of spare
parts, as well as fleet management services. Pratt & Whit-
ney produces families of engines for wide, narrow body and
military aircraft that power both Boeing and Airbus aircraft.
Pratt & Whitney also sells engines for auxiliary power units,
industrial applications and space propulsion systems. Pratt &
Whitney Canada (P&WC) is a world leader for engines pow-
ering business, regional, light jet, utility and military aircraft
and helicopters. Pratt & Whitney Rocketdyne (PWR) is a leader
in the design, development and manufacture of sophisticated
aerospace propulsion systems for military and commercial
applications, including the space shuttle. Pratt & Whitney’s
products are sold principally to aircraft manufacturers, airlines
and other aircraft operators, aircraft leasing companies, space
launch vehicle providers and U.S. and foreign governments. Dur-
ing 2006, Pratt & Whitney launched Global Material Solutions,
a new business that intends to engineer, certify, manufacture,
sell, distribute and service new OEM caliber parts, including
life limited parts, for CFM56-3® engines. Pratt & Whitney’s
products and services must adhere to strict regulatory and
market driven safety and performance standards. These stan-
dards, along with the long duration of aircraft engine programs,
create uncertainty regarding engine program profitability. The
vast majority of sales are made directly to the customer and, to
a limited extent, through independent distributors or foreign
sales representatives.

In view of the risk and cost associated with developing
new engines, Pratt & Whitney has entered into collaboration
agreements in which revenues, costs and risks are shared.
At December 31, 2006, the interests of participants in current
Pratt & Whitney-directed commercial jet engine production
programs ranged from 14 to 29 percent. In addition, Pratt &
Whitney has interests in other programs. These include a
33 percent interest in the International Aero Engines (IAE)
collaboration that sells and supports V2500 engines for the
A320 family of aircraft and a 50 percent interest in the Engine
Alliance (EA) with GE Aviation to develop, market and manu-
facture the GP7000 engine for the A380 aircraft. At December
31, 2006, other participants held interests totaling 40 percent of
Pratt & Whitney’s share of the EA. Flight testing of the GP7000
commenced in 2006. European Aviation Safety Agency certifi-
cation of the A380 aircraft with the GP7000 engines is expected
in 2007, with entry into service expected in 2008.

Pratt & Whitney’s revenues increased $1,817 million
(20%) in 2006 as compared with 2005. This increase is primar-
ily attributable to higher commercial aftermarket services and
spare parts revenues (7%) and higher Pratt & Whitney Canada
engine, spares and service revenues (5%). Military and power
systems (combined 4%), and acquisitions, principally Rocket-
dyne (4%) generated the remainder of the increase. Revenues
increased $1,014 million (12%) in 2005 as compared with 2004.
The increase is primarily attributable to higher aftermarket ser-
vices and commercial engine revenues (6%) and higher Pratt &

Whitney Canada volume (5%), including engine sales, spares
and service. Acquisitions, principally Rocketdyne, contributed
3% of the increase. Military aerospace revenues were relatively
flat in 2005 compared to 2004.

Pratt & Whitney’s operating profits increased $368 mil-
lion (25%) in 2006 as compared with 2005. This increase is
primarily attributable to higher aftermarket services, including
spare parts (26%), and Pratt & Whitney Canada (7%), partially
offset by increased research and development spending (5%),
and the net impact of increased commodity and energy prices
(10%). The favorable impact of the settlement of a government
litigation matter (6%) and a gain realized on the sale of a part-
nership interest in a small engine product line (2%), partially
offset by higher restructuring charges (2%) and the adverse
impact of foreign currency translation (2%), contributed the
majority of the remaining operating profit increase. Operating
profits increased $366 million (34%) in 2005 as compared with
2004. This increase is primarily attributable to higher aftermar-
ket services and commercial engine volumes (10%), increased
volume at Pratt & Whitney Canada (6%), lower restructuring
charges (10%) and $42 million (4%) of first quarter 2004 costs
associated with a collaboration accounting litigation matter.

HAMILTON SUNDSTRAND is among the world’s leading suppliers
of technologically advanced aerospace and industrial products
and aftermarket services for diversified industries worldwide.
Hamilton Sundstrand’s aerospace products, such as power
generation management and distribution systems, flight sys-
tems, engine control systems, environmental control systems,
fire protection and detection systems, auxiliary power units
and propeller systems, serve commercial, military, regional,
business and general aviation, as well as space and undersea
applications. Aftermarket services include spare parts, over-
haul and repair, engineering and technical support and fleet
maintenance programs. Hamilton Sundstrand sells aerospace
products to airframe manufacturers, the U.S. and foreign gov-
ernments, aircraft operators and independent distributors.
Hamilton Sundstrand’s principal industrial products, such as
air compressors, metering pumps and fluid handling equip-
ment, serve industries involved with raw material processing,
bulk material handling, construction, hydrocarbon and chemi-
cal processing, and water and wastewater treatment. These
products are sold under the Sullair, Sundyne, Milton Roy and
other brand names directly to end-users through manufactur-
ers’ representatives and distributors.

Hamilton Sundstrand’s revenues increased $613 million
(14%) as compared with 2005 due principally to volume growth
in both the aerospace (7%) and industrial (6%) businesses. The
net impact of acquisitions and divestitures contributed the
remainder of the increase. Within aerospace, both commercial
OEM and commercial aftermarket contributed to the volume
increase. Military OEM and aftermarket volumes increased
modestly. Industrial revenues benefited from strong compressor
and pump demand as well as growth in the emerging markets.
Revenues increased $461 million (12%) in 2005 as compared
with 2004, due principally to the net impact of acquisitions
and divestitures (5%), and volume growth in both the aero-
space (4%) and industrial (2%) businesses. Within aerospace,
increased commercial aftermarket volume was partially offset
by continued declines in military aftermarket volume.
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Hamilton Sundstrand’s operating profits increased $157
million (23%) as compared with 2005 due principally to vol-
ume growth in both the commercial aftermarket (13%) and
industrial businesses (8%). Operating profit increases from
the commercial OEM revenue growth (10%) were offset by
the increased company funded research and development
costs, primarily associated with the Boeing 787 program (9%)
and higher commodity costs net of price increases (5%). The
net impact of acquisitions and divestitures (2%) and lower
restructuring charges (4%) contributed to the remainder of the
growth. Operating profits increased $92 million (16%) in 2005
as compared with 2004 due principally to the net impact of
acquisitions and divestitures (11%) and volume growth in both
the commercial aftermarket (6%) and industrial businesses
(2%). This operating profit improvement was partially offset by
the effects of increased development spending, net of gains on
the disposition of non-core businesses, principally Falk.

SIKORSKY is one of the world’s largest manufacturers of mili-
tary and commercial helicopters and also provides aftermarket
helicopter and aircraft parts and services. Current production
programs at Sikorsky include the UH-60L and UH-60M Black
Hawk medium-transport helicopters for the U.S. and foreign
governments, the MH-60S and MH-60R helicopters for the
U.S. Navy, the International Naval Hawk for multiple naval mis-
sions, and the S-76 and the S-92 helicopters for commercial
operations. Sikorsky is also developing the U.S. Marine Corps
CH-53K next generation heavy lift helicopter. Sikorsky’s after-
market business includes spare parts sales, overhaul and repair
services, maintenance contracts, and logistics support pro-
grams for helicopters and other aircraft. Sales are made directly
by Sikorsky and by its subsidiaries and joint ventures. Sikor-
sky is increasingly engaging in logistics support programs and
partnering with its government and commercial customers to
manage and provide maintenance and repair services.

As discussed previously, Sikorsky’s operating results were
adversely impacted by a strike of its union workforce from Feb-
ruary through early April 2006. Although helicopter deliveries
improved significantly following the resumption of full produc-
tion after settlement of the strike, Sikorsky incurred additional
manufacturing costs as it worked to accommodate the steep
ramp up needed to meet the requirements of both a record
backlog and more complex helicopters. Concurrently, Sikor-
sky also worked to reconfigure its manufacturing processes,
including the sourcing of certain manufacturing activities.

Sikorsky’s revenues increased $428 million (15%) in
2006 as compared to 2005. Increases in commercial and mili-
tary aircraft deliveries (2%), strong aftermarket sales (5%) and
acquisitions (5%) contributed the majority of the increase in
revenues. The remainder of the revenue increase was attrib-
utable to program support and development efforts. Revenues
increased $296 million (12%) in 2005 as compared to 2004 with
commercial aircraft deliveries (10%) and strong aftermarket
sales (10%), offsetting the loss of Comanche revenues (10%).

Sikorsky’s operating profit decreased $77 million (31%) in
2006 as compared to 2005. The profit contribution from higher
revenues was more than offset by higher manufacturing costs
at Sikorsky related to the strike and subsequent ramp up to
full production (net 16%). The adverse impact of commodity
and energy prices (10%) and an increase in restructuring costs
(7%), offset in part by the contribution from acquisitions (2%),

comprised the remainder. Operating profit increased $50 mil-
lion (25%) in 2005 as compared to 2004 due principally to
higher aircraft and aftermarket volume (47%). The balance of
the operating profit change primarily reflects the termination of
the Comanche program (12%) and an increase in development
spending (11%), offset by lower restructuring charges (3%).

Liquidity and Financing Commitments

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,546 $ 2,247

Total debt 7,931 8,240

Net debt (total debt less cash and

cash equivalents) 5,385 5,993

Shareowners’ equity 17,297 16,991

Total capitalization (debt plus equity) 25,228 25,231

Net capitalization (debt plus equity

less cash and cash equivalents) 22,682 22,984

Debt to total capitalization 31% 33%

Net debt to net capitalization 24% 26%

We adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for
Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans – an
amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R)”
(SFAS 158) on December 31, 2006. The adoption resulted in
a decrease in total assets by approximately $2.4 billion, an
increase of total liabilities by approximately $549 million and
a reduction of total shareowners’ equity by approximately $1.8
billion, net of tax. The impact of the adoption had an adverse
impact on our debt to total capitalization and net debt to net
capitalization of two percentage points in 2006.

We assess our liquidity in terms of our ability to generate
cash to fund our operating, investing and financing activities.
Our principal source of liquidity is operating cash flows, which,
after netting out capital expenditures, we target to equal
or exceed net income. In addition to operating cash flows,
other significant factors that affect our overall management
of liquidity include: capital expenditures, customer financing
requirements, investments in businesses, dividends, common
stock repurchases, pension funding, adequacy of available
bank lines of credit, and the ability to attract long-term capital
at satisfactory terms.

Most of our cash is denominated in foreign currencies. We
manage our worldwide cash requirements considering avail-
able funds among the many subsidiaries through which we
conduct our business and the cost effectiveness with which
those funds can be accessed. The repatriation of cash balances
from certain of our subsidiaries could have adverse tax con-
sequences; however, those balances are generally available
without legal restrictions to fund ordinary business operations.
We have and will continue to transfer cash from those subsid-
iaries to us and to other international subsidiaries when it is
cost effective to do so.

The timing and levels of certain cash flow activities, such
as acquisitions, have resulted in the issuance of both long-term
and short-term debt. Commercial paper borrowings provide
short-term liquidity to supplement operating cash flows and
are used for general corporate purposes as well as the potential
funding of certain acquisitions. We had $450 million of com-
mercial paper outstanding at December 31, 2006, all of which
matured in less than one week.
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In May 2006, we issued $1.1 billion of long-term debt, the
proceeds of which were used to repay commercial paper bor-
rowings. In April 2005, we issued $2.4 billion of long-term debt,
the proceeds of which were used primarily to support the fund-
ing of the Kidde acquisition.

Our ability to obtain debt financing at comparable risk-
based interest rates is partly a function of our existing debt to
capitalization levels as well as our current credit standing. The
issuance of $2.4 billion in long-term debt in 2005 increased our
level of debt to total capitalization to 33% from 28%. Conversely,
the repayment of a significant portion of the commercial
paper borrowings in 2006, partially offset by the issuance of
$1.1 billion in long-term debt in May 2006, and the funding of
second half 2006 debt maturities of $650 million with internal
cash flows, reduced our level of debt to total capitalization to
31% as of December 31, 2006. Our credit ratings are reviewed
regularly by major debt rating agencies such as Standard and
Poor’s and Moody’s Investor Service. In 2006, Standard and
Poor’s affirmed our long-term and short-term debt ratings as A
and A-1, respectively. Similarly, Moody’s Investor Service also
affirmed its corporate rating on our long-term and short-term
debt as A2 and P-1, respectively.

We believe our future operating cash flows will be suf-
ficient to meet our future operating cash needs. Further,
our ability to obtain debt or equity financing, as well as the
availability under committed credit lines, provides additional
potential sources of liquidity should they be required.

OPERATING CASH FLOWS. Net cash provided by operating activ-
ities in 2006 was $4,803 million compared to $4,334 million in
2005. Net income growth of $663 million, $473 million of benefit
from lower 2006 voluntary pension contributions, and a reduc-
tion in working capital components of $628 million were the
principal contributors to the increase in operating cash flows.
These were partially offset by a $283 million payment to the
U.S. Department of Defense to settle the commercial engine
collaboration program litigation, and an increase in other net
operating assets of $611 million. Other operating asset activ-
ity principally reflects the elimination of non-cash gains and
the foreign exchange impact on intercompany lending. Dur-
ing 2006, inventory levels increased approximately $800 million
as a result of the strong organic revenue growth, the ramp up
in volume at Sikorsky and the aerospace supply chain capac-
ity issues brought about by the high demand throughout
the industry. Additionally, approximately $300 million of the
increase pertains to capitalized contract research and devel-
opment costs on certain aerospace programs which will be
subsequently recovered through production aircraft ship-
ments. The increase in inventory was effectively offset by a
commensurate increase in accounts payable and accrued lia-
bilities which reflected the volume growth and the timing and
amount of additional customer advances. The working capital
improvement, therefore, resulted largely from accounts receiv-
able remaining flat compared to the approximately $800 million
increase in 2005. The improvement in accounts receivable was
attributable to a concerted focus by all businesses on maintain-
ing collection levels and reducing delinquent amounts.

The funded status of our pension plans is dependent
upon many factors, including returns on invested assets, level
of market interest rates and levels of voluntary contributions
to the plans. Better than projected investment returns and
additional voluntary pension contributions have improved the

funded status of all plans, helping to minimize future funding
requirements. As such, we plan to make up to $250 million in
voluntary contributions to these defined benefit pension plans
in 2007, versus the voluntary cash contributions of $190 mil-
lion and $663 million, in 2006 and 2005, respectively. We also
contributed $150 million in UTC common stock to these plans
during 2006. As of December 31, 2006, the total investment by
the defined benefit pension plans in our securities is approxi-
mately 3% of total plan assets.

INVESTING CASH FLOWS. Cash used in investing activities
was $1,261 million in 2006, compared with $4,649 million in
2005. The 2006 activity primarily reflects a net investment in
businesses of $460 million and capital expenditures of $954
million. This compares with a net investment in businesses
in 2005 of $3,755 million and capital expenditures of $929 mil-
lion. Acquisitions in 2006 consisted principally of a number
of small businesses including Red Hawk Industries by UTC
Fire & Security, Page Group by Hamilton Sundstrand and
Longville Group and Sensitech by Carrier. Dispositions in 2006
consisted of the sale of certain non-core businesses including
CalPeak and Scroll Technologies. The $3.8 billion in acquisition
spending in 2005 largely relates to the acquisitions of Kidde,
Rocketdyne, Lenel and the buyout of the remaining minority
interest in Otis LG Elevator Company, net of the proceeds from
the dispositions of businesses (principally Falk) of $308 million.
We purchased our initial interest in Kidde of slightly less than
20% in late 2004 for approximately $450 million. The remaining
balance of the approximately $2.6 billion cash purchase price
was paid in the second quarter of 2005. The acquisitions of
Rocketdyne, Lenel and Otis LG Elevator Company for approxi-
mately $700 million, $440 million and $315 million, respectively,
comprise the majority of the remaining acquisition spending.
We expect total investments in businesses in 2007 to approxi-
mate $2 billion, however, actual acquisition spending may vary
depending upon the timing, availability and appropriate value
of acquisition opportunities.

Capital expenditures increased $25 million in 2006 to
$954 million. An approximately $100 million reduction in
capital spending at Carrier was offset by increases across all
other businesses. Investments by Carrier in production modi-
fications for its new 13 SEER product line were essentially
completed in 2005, which led to a substantial decline in Car-
rier’s capital expenditures in 2006 compared to 2005. Capital
expenditure increases in the remaining businesses largely
related to restructuring and facility changes. Capital expendi-
ture levels are expected to increase in 2007 by approximately
$100 million from 2006 levels and approximate depreciation
and amortization expense in 2007.

Customer financing activities provided net cash of $68 mil-
lion in 2006, compared to a use of $70 million in 2005. While
we expect that customer financing will be a net use of cash
in 2007, actual funding is subject to usage under existing cus-
tomer financing arrangements. At December 31, 2006, we had
financing and rental commitments of $1,126 million related to
commercial aircraft, of which as much as $446 million may be
required to be disbursed in 2007. We may also arrange for third-
party investors to assume a portion of our commitments. Refer
to Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for addi-
tional discussion of our commercial aerospace industry assets
and commitments.
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FINANCING CASH FLOWS. Net cash flows used in financing
activities was $3,342 million in 2006 compared to a source
of $335 million in 2005. In both 2006 and 2005, cash was pri-
marily used to return value to shareowners through dividends
and share repurchases. In May 2006, we issued $1.1 billion of
long-term debt, the proceeds of which were used to repay com-
mercial paper borrowings. In April 2005, we issued $2.4 billion
of long-term debt, the proceeds of which were used to fund
the Kidde and Lenel acquisitions, and for general corporate
purposes. In the third quarter of 2005, we issued an additional
$700 million of commercial paper primarily to fund the acquisi-
tion of Rocketdyne.

At December 31, 2006, we had credit commitments from
banks totaling $2.5 billion. We had a credit commitment of
$1.5 billion under a revolving credit agreement, which serves
as a backup facility for the issuance of commercial paper. This
revolving credit agreement was renewed in October 2006 and
will expire in October 2011. In November 2006, we entered into
a $1.0 billion multi-currency revolving credit agreement that is
to be used for general corporate funding purposes, including
acquisitions. There were no borrowings under either of these
revolving credit agreements at December 31, 2006. In addition,
at December 31, 2006, approximately $1.9 billion was available
under short-term lines of credit with local banks at our various
domestic and international subsidiaries.

At December 31, 2006, up to approximately $900 million
of additional debt and equity securities could be issued under
a shelf registration statement on file with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

Financing cash outflows for 2006 and 2005 included the
repurchase of 33.3 million and 22.6 million shares of our com-
mon stock for $2,068 million and $1,181 million, respectively.
Share repurchase continues to be a significant use of our cash
flow. In addition to management’s view that the repurchase of
our common stock is a beneficial investment, we also repur-
chase to offset the dilutive effect of the issuance of stock and
options under the stock-based employee benefit programs.
On December 13, 2006, the Board of Directors authorized the
renewal of our 60 million common share repurchase program.
Authority for repurchase under the previous program lapsed. At
December 31, 2006, we had remaining authority to repurchase
approximately 58 million shares under the current program. We
expect total share repurchases in 2007 to approximate $1.5 bil-
lion; however, total repurchases may vary depending upon the
level of other investing activities.

On April 13, 2005, the Board of Directors approved a 2-for-1
split of our common stock in the form of a stock dividend which
was issued June 10, 2005. In April 2006, the Board of Directors
approved a 20% increase in the quarterly dividend payable to
$.265 per share. During 2006, $951 million of cash dividends
were paid to shareowners.

Critical Accounting Estimates
Preparation of our financial statements requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. Note 1
to the Consolidated Financial Statements describes the
significant accounting policies used in preparation of the
Consolidated Financial Statements. Management believes
the most complex and sensitive judgments, because of their
significance to the Consolidated Financial Statements, result
primarily from the need to make estimates about the effects

of matters that are inherently uncertain. The most significant
areas involving management judgments and estimates are
described below. Actual results in these areas could differ from
management’s estimates.

LONG-TERM CONTRACT ACCOUNTING. We utilize percentage of
completion accounting on certain of our long-term contracts.
The percentage of completion method requires estimates of
future revenues and costs over the full term of product delivery.

Losses, if any, on long-term contracts are provided for when
anticipated. We recognize loss provisions on original equipment
contracts to the extent that estimated inventoriable manufac-
turing, engineering, product warranty and product performance
guarantee costs exceed the projected revenue from the products
contemplated under the contractual arrangement. Products
contemplated under the contractual arrangement include
products purchased under the contract and, in the aerospace
businesses, required replacement parts that are purchased
separately and subsequently for incorporation into the original
equipment. Revenue projections used in determining contract
loss provisions are based upon estimates of the quantity, pricing
and timing of future product deliveries. We recognize losses on
shipment to the extent that inventoriable manufacturing costs,
estimated warranty costs and product performance guarantee
costs exceed revenue realized. We measure the extent of prog-
ress toward completion on our long-term commercial aerospace
equipment and helicopter contracts using units of delivery. In
addition, we use the cost-to-cost method for development con-
tracts in the aerospace businesses and for elevator and escalator
sales, installation and modernization contracts in the com-
mercial businesses. For long-term aftermarket contracts, we
recognize revenue over the contract period in proportion to the
costs expected to be incurred in performing services under the
contract. Contract accounting also requires estimates of future
costs over the performance period of the contract as well as an
estimate of award fees and other sources of revenue.

Contract costs are incurred over a period of time, which
can be several years, and the estimation of these costs requires
management’s judgment. The long-term nature of these con-
tracts, the complexity of the products, and the strict safety and
performance standards under which they are regulated can
affect our ability to estimate costs precisely. As a result, we
review and update our cost estimates on significant contracts
on a quarterly basis, and no less than annually for all others,
or when circumstances change and warrant a modification to
a previous estimate. We record adjustments to contract loss
provisions in earnings when identified.

INCOME TAXES. The future tax benefit arising from net deduct-
ible temporary differences and tax carryforwards is $3.0 billion
at December 31, 2006 and $2.1 billion at December 31, 2005.
Management believes that our earnings during the periods
when the temporary differences become deductible will be suf-
ficient to realize the related future income tax benefits. For those
jurisdictions where the expiration date of tax carryforwards or
the projected operating results indicate that realization is not
likely, a valuation allowance is provided.

In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, we esti-
mate future taxable income, considering the feasibility of
ongoing tax planning strategies and the realizability of tax
loss carryforwards. Valuation allowances related to deferred
tax assets can be affected by changes to tax laws, changes
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to statutory tax rates and future taxable income levels. In the
event we were to determine that we would not be able to real-
ize all or a portion of our deferred tax assets in the future, we
would reduce such amounts through a charge to income in the
period in which that determination is made. Conversely, if we
were to determine that we would be able to realize our deferred
tax assets in the future in excess of the net carrying amounts,
we would decrease the recorded valuation allowance through
an increase to income in the period in which that determina-
tion is made. Subsequently recognized tax benefits associated
with valuation allowances recorded in a business combination
will be recorded as an adjustment to goodwill.

We have exposures related to tax filings in the ordinary
course of business. We periodically assess our liabilities and
contingencies for all tax years under audit based upon the lat-
est information available. For those matters where it is probable
that an adjustment will be asserted, we have recorded our best
estimate of the tax liability, including related interest charges,
in our Consolidated Financial Statements. See Notes 1 and 9 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS. Our net investments in
businesses in 2006 totaled $1.0 billion, including approximately
$138 million of debt assumed. The assets and liabilities of
acquired businesses are recorded under the purchase method
of accounting at their estimated fair values at the dates of
acquisition. Goodwill represents costs in excess of fair values
assigned to the underlying net assets of acquired businesses.
We have recorded goodwill of $14.1 billion at December 31,
2006 and $13.0 billion at December 31, 2005.

Goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have indefinite
lives are not amortized, but are subject to annual impairment
testing. The identification and measurement of goodwill impair-
ment involves the estimation of the fair value of reporting units.
The estimates of fair value of reporting units are based on the
best information available as of the date of the assessment,
which primarily incorporate management assumptions about
expected future cash flows and contemplate other valuation
techniques. Future cash flows can be affected by changes in
industry or market conditions or the rate and extent to which
anticipated synergies or cost savings are realized with newly
acquired entities. Although no goodwill impairment has been
recorded to date, there can be no assurances that future good-
will impairments will not occur. See Note 2 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for further discussion.

PRODUCT PERFORMANCE. We extend performance and operating
cost guarantees beyond our normal service and warranty poli-
cies for extended periods on some of our products, particularly
commercial aircraft engines. Liability under such guarantees
is based upon future product performance and durability. In
addition, we incur discretionary costs to service our products
in connection with product performance issues. We accrue
for such costs that are probable and can be reasonably esti-
mated. The costs associated with these product performance
and operating cost guarantees require estimates over the full
terms of the agreements, and require management to consider
factors such as the extent of future maintenance requirements
and the future cost of material and labor to perform the ser-
vices. These cost estimates are largely based upon historical
experience. See Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial State-
ments for further discussion.

CONTRACTING WITH THE U.S. GOVERNMENT. Our contracts
with the U.S. government are subject to government oversight
and audit. Like many defense contractors, we have received
audit reports, which recommend that certain contract prices
should be reduced to comply with various government regu-
lations. Some of these audit reports have involved substantial
amounts. We have made voluntary refunds in those cases
we believe appropriate. In addition, we accrue for liabilities
associated with those government contracting matters that
are probable and can be reasonably estimated. The inherent
uncertainty related to the outcome of these matters can result
in amounts materially different from any provisions made with
respect to their resolution. See Note 14 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for further discussion. We recorded sales
to the U.S. government of $6.4 billion in 2006 and $5.8 billion
in 2005.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS. We sponsor domestic and foreign
defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans. Major
assumptions used in the accounting for these employee benefit
plans include the discount rate, expected return on plan assets,
rate of increase in employee compensation levels, and health
care cost increase projections. Assumptions are determined
based on company data and appropriate market indicators, and
are evaluated each year as of the plans’ measurement date. A
change in any of these assumptions would have an effect on
net periodic pension and postretirement benefit costs reported
in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The weighted-average discount rate used to measure
pension liabilities and costs is set by reference to published
high-quality bond indices. However, these indices give only an
indication of the appropriate discount rate because the cash
flows of the bonds comprising the indices do not match the
projected benefit payment stream of the plan precisely. For this
reason, we also consider the individual characteristics of the
plan, such as projected cash flow patterns and payment dura-
tions, when setting the discount rate. Market interest rates
were essentially flat in 2006 as compared with 2005 and, as
a result, the weighted-average discount rate used to measure
pension liabilities and costs essentially remained flat at 5.4%.
Pension expense in 2007 is expected to decline as the amor-
tization of prior investment losses begins to be replaced with
the amortization of prior investment gains. See Note 10 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and
Contractual Obligations
We extend a variety of financial guarantees to third parties in
support of unconsolidated affiliates and for potential financ-
ing requirements of commercial aerospace customers. We
also have obligations arising from sales of certain businesses
and assets, including representations and warranties and
related indemnities for environmental, health and safety, tax,
and employment matters. Circumstances that could cause
the contingent obligations and liabilities arising from these
arrangements to come to fruition are changes in an underly-
ing transaction (e.g., hazardous waste discoveries, adverse
tax audit, etc.), nonperformance under a contract, customer
requests for financing, or deterioration in the financial condi-
tion of the guaranteed party.
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Purchase obligations include amounts committed under
legally enforceable contracts or purchase orders for goods and
services with defined terms as to price, quantity, delivery and
termination liability. Approximately 23% of the purchase obli-
gations disclosed above represent purchase orders for products
to be delivered under firm contracts with the U.S. government
for which we have full recourse under normal contract termina-
tion clauses.

Other long-term liabilities primarily include those
amounts on our December 31, 2006 balance sheet represent-
ing obligations under product service and warranty policies,
performance and operating cost guarantees, estimated envi-
ronmental remediation costs and payments under employee
benefit programs. The timing of expected cash flows associ-
ated with these obligations is based upon management’s
estimates over the terms of these agreements and is largely
based upon historical experience.

Payments Due by Period

Less than More than
( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) Total 1 Year 1–3 Years 3–5 Years 5 Years

Long-term debt * $ 7,074 $ 37 $ 998 $1,639 $4,400

Operating leases 1,382 372 504 256 250

Purchase obligations 11,388 6,558 3,059 807 964

Other long-term liabilities 3,450 774 814 673 1,189

Total contractual obligations $23,294 $7,741 $5,375 $3,375 $6,803

*Principal only; excludes associated interest payments

Commercial Commitments

Amount of Commitment Expiration per Period

Less than More than
( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) Committed 1 Year 1–3 Years 3–5 Years 5 Years

Commercial aerospace financing and rental commitments $1,126 $446 $ 436 $ 43 $201

IAE financing arrangements 1,208 291 586 97 234

Unconsolidated subsidiary debt guarantees 191 81 20 36 54

Commercial aerospace financing arrangements 194 37 23 32 102

Commercial customer financing arrangements 123 123 — — —

Performance guarantees 73 — 59 14 —

Total commercial commitments $2,915 $978 $1,124 $222 $591

Refer to Notes 4, 8, 13 and 14 to the Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements for additional discussion on contractual and
commercial commitments.

Market Risk and Risk Management
We are exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates, interest rates and commodity prices. To manage certain
of those exposures, we use derivative instruments, including
swaps, forward contracts and options. Derivative instruments
utilized by us in our hedging activities are viewed as risk man-
agement tools, involve little complexity and are not used for
trading or speculative purposes. We diversify the counterpar-
ties used and monitor the concentration of risk to limit our
counterparty exposure.

We have evaluated our exposure to changes in foreign
currency exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices
in our market risk sensitive instruments, which are primarily
cash, debt and derivative instruments, using a value at risk
analysis. Based on a 95% confidence level and a one-day hold-
ing period, at December 31, 2006, the potential loss in fair value
on our market risk sensitive instruments was not material in
relation to our financial position, results of operations or cash
flows. Our calculated value at risk exposure represents an esti-
mate of reasonably possible net losses based on volatilities and
correlations and is not necessarily indicative of actual results.
Refer to Notes 1, 8 and 12 to the Consolidated Financial State-

ments for additional discussion of foreign currency exchange,
interest rates and financial instruments.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURES. We have a large volume of
foreign currency exposures that result from our international
sales, purchases, investments, borrowings and other interna-
tional transactions. International segment revenues, including
U.S. export sales, averaged approximately $26 billion over the
last three years. We actively manage foreign currency expo-
sures that are associated with committed foreign currency
purchases and sales and other assets and liabilities created
in the normal course of business at the operating unit level.
Exposures that cannot be naturally offset within an operating
unit to an insignificant amount are hedged with foreign cur-
rency derivatives. We also have a significant amount of foreign
currency net asset exposures. Currently, we do not hold any
derivative contracts that hedge our foreign currency net asset
exposures but may consider such strategies in the future.

INTEREST RATE EXPOSURES. Our long-term debt portfolio con-
sists mostly of fixed-rate instruments. From time-to-time, we
may hedge to floating rates using interest rate swaps. The
hedges are designated as fair value hedges and the gains and
losses on the swaps are reported in interest expense, reflecting
that portion of interest expense at a variable rate. We issue com-
mercial paper, which exposes us to changes in interest rates.

A summary of our consolidated contractual obligations
and commitments as of December 31, 2006 is as follows:
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COMMODITY PRICE EXPOSURES. We are exposed to volatility in
the prices of raw materials used in some of our products and
use forward contracts in limited circumstances to manage
some of those exposures. The forward contracts are designated
as hedges of the cash flow variability that results from the fore-
casted purchases. Gains and losses on those derivatives are
deferred in other comprehensive income to the extent they are
effective as hedges and reclassified into cost of products sold in
the period in which the hedged transaction affects earnings.

Environmental Matters
Our operations are subject to environmental regulation by
federal, state and local authorities in the U.S. and regulatory
authorities with jurisdiction over our foreign operations. As a
result, we have established, and continually update, policies
relating to environmental standards of performance for our oper-
ations worldwide. We believe that expenditures necessary to
comply with the present regulations governing environmental
protection will not have a material effect upon our competitive
position, consolidated financial position, results of operations
or cash flows.

We have identified approximately 556 locations, mostly
in the United States, at which we may have some liability for
remediating contamination. We do not believe that any indi-
vidual location’s exposure will have a material effect on our
results of operations. Sites in the investigation, remediation
or operation and maintenance stage represent approximately
93% of our accrued environmental liability.

We have been identified as a potentially responsible
party under the Comprehensive Environmental Response
Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA or Superfund) at
approximately 106 sites. The number of Superfund sites, in
and of itself, does not represent a relevant measure of liabil-
ity because the nature and extent of environmental concerns
vary from site to site and our share of responsibility varies from
sole responsibility to very little responsibility. In estimating our
liability for remediation, we consider our likely proportionate
share of the anticipated remediation expense and the ability of
other potentially responsible parties to fulfill their obligations.

At December 31, 2006, we had $539 million reserved for
environmental remediation. Cash outflows for environmental
remediation were $79 million in 2006, $43 million in 2005 and
$49 million in 2004. We estimate that ongoing environmental
remediation expenditures in each of the next two years will
approximate $75 million.

Government Matters
As described in the “Critical Accounting Estimates – Contract-
ing with the U.S. government,” our contracts with the U.S.
government are subject to audits. Such audits may recommend
that certain contract prices should be reduced to comply with
various government regulations. We are also the subject of one
or more investigations and legal proceedings initiated by the
U.S. government with respect to government contract matters.

As previously disclosed and described in Note 14 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, we were in litigation with
the Department of Defense (DoD) as to whether Pratt & Whit-
ney’s government cost accounting practices for engine parts
produced by foreign companies under commercial collaboration
programs since 1984 were acceptable. In 2001, the U.S. Armed

Services Board of Contract Appeals (ASBCA) ruled in our favor,
but the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit reversed
in 2003 and remanded the case to the ASBCA to determine
the appropriate accounting. The U.S. Supreme Court declined
to review that decision. In November 2003, the DoD supple-
mented its claim to add damages and interest for the period
after 1996, bringing the DoD’s claim to approximately $367 mil-
lion in damages through 2002 and approximately $388 million
in interest through 2001. Our appeal of this supplemental claim
was consolidated with the original matter. On June 5, 2006, we
entered into an agreement with the DoD to pay $283 million
in settlement of this litigation and paid the entire settlement
amount in July 2006.

In addition and as previously disclosed, the U.S. Depart-
ment of Justice (DoJ) sued us in 1999 under the civil False
Claims Act and other theories related to the “Fighter Engine
Competition” between Pratt & Whitney’s F100 engine and
GE’s F110 engine. The DoJ alleges that the government over-
paid for engines because Pratt & Whitney inflated certain costs
and withheld data. The government claims damages of $624
million. We believe this estimate is substantially overstated,
deny any liability and are vigorously defending the matter. Trial
of this matter was completed in December 2004, and a decision
is pending. This matter is described in Note 14 to the Con-
solidated Financial Statements. Should the U.S. government
ultimately prevail with respect to the foregoing government
contracting matter, the outcome could result in a material
effect on our results of operations in the period in which a lia-
bility would be recognized or cash flows for the period in which
damages would be paid. However, we believe that the resolu-
tion of this matter will not have a material adverse effect on
our results of operations, competitive position, cash flows or
financial condition.

As previously reported, the European Commission’s Com-
petition Directorate (EU Commission) conducted inspections
in early 2004 at offices of our Otis subsidiary in Berlin, Brussels,
Luxembourg and Paris relating to an investigation of possible
unlawful collusive arrangements involving the European ele-
vator and escalator industry. Based on the result of our own
internal investigation, we believe that some Otis employees
engaged in activities at a local level in Belgium, Luxembourg,
the Netherlands and Germany in violation of Otis and UTC pol-
icies and European competition law. On October 13, 2005, we
received a Statement of Objections (SO) from the EU Commis-
sion relating to this investigation. The SO, an administrative
complaint, alleges infringements of EU competition rules by
certain elevator companies, including Otis, in Belgium, Lux-
embourg, the Netherlands and Germany. We responded to
the SO on February 21, 2006 and have cooperated fully with
the EU Commission. We expect the EU Commission to issue
a decision in the near term, but cannot reasonably estimate
the range of civil fines to which we or Otis would likely be sub-
ject. The aggregate amount of such fines could be material to
our operating results for the period in which the liability would
be recognized or cash flows for the period in which the fines
would be paid. We do not believe that any such fines would
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, or
that resolution of this matter would have a material adverse
effect on Otis’ competitive position.
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Since the EU Commission’s investigation became pub-
lic, class action lawsuits were filed in various federal district
courts in the United States alleging that we, Otis and other
elevator manufacturers engaged in violations of Sections 1 and
2 of the Sherman Act. Those lawsuits were transferred to and
consolidated in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District
of New York. On June 6, 2006, the district court judge granted
our motion to dismiss without leave to replead. On June 30,
2006, the plaintiffs appealed this decision to the U.S. Court of
Appeals for the Second Circuit. We expect a decision in the
second or third quarter of 2007. We continue to believe that
this litigation is without merit.

Additional discussion of our environmental, U.S. Gov-
ernment contract matters, product performance and other
contingent liabilities is included in “Critical Accounting Esti-
mates” and Notes 1, 13 and 14 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. For additional discussion of our legal proceedings,
see Item 3, “Legal Proceedings,” in our 2006 Form 10-K.

New Accounting Pronouncements
In September 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) issued a Proposed Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards which amends FASB Statement No. 128, “Earn-
ings per Share.” The proposed statement is intended to clarify
guidance on the computation of earnings per share for certain
items such as mandatorily convertible instruments, the trea-
sury stock method, and contingently issuable shares. We have
evaluated the proposed statement as presently drafted and
have determined that if adopted in its current form it would
not have a significant impact on the computation of our earn-
ings per share.

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Finan-
cial Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements”
which is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15,
2007 and for interim periods within those years. This statement
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair
value and expands the related disclosure requirements. We
have evaluated the new statement and have determined that
it will not have a significant impact on the determination or
reporting of our financial results.

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Finan-
cial Accounting Standards No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting
for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans –
an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R)”
(SFAS 158). This statement requires balance sheet recognition
of the overfunded or underfunded status of pension and post-
retirement benefit plans. Under SFAS 158, actuarial gains and
losses, prior service costs or credits, and any remaining transi-
tion assets or obligations that have not been recognized under
previous accounting standards must be recognized in Accu-
mulated Other Non-Shareowners’ Changes in Equity, net of tax
effects, until they are amortized as a component of net periodic
benefit cost. In addition, the measurement date (the date at
which plan assets and the benefit obligation are measured) is
required to be the Company’s fiscal year end. Presently, we use
a November 30 measurement date for a majority of our pension
and postretirement benefit plans. We adopted the recognition
provisions of SFAS 158 effective December 31, 2006, except
for the measurement date provisions, which are not effective
until fiscal years ending after December 15, 2008. However, we

have early-adopted the measurement date provisions effective
January 1, 2007. The non-cash effect of the adoption resulted
in a decrease to total assets of approximately $2.4 billion, an
increase to total liabilities of approximately $549 million and
a reduction to total shareowners’ equity of approximately
$1.8 billion, net of tax. The adoption of SFAS 158 did not affect
our results of operations.

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No.
48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes – an interpre-
tation of FASB Statement No. 109” which is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2006. This interpretation
was issued to clarify the accounting for uncertainty in income
taxes recognized in the financial statements by prescribing a
recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the finan-
cial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position
taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. We are evaluating
our tax positions and anticipate that the Interpretation will not
have a significant impact on our results of operations.
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This annual report contains statements which, to the extent
they are not statements of historical or present fact, consti-
tute “forward-looking statements” under the securities laws.
From time to time, oral or written forward-looking statements
may also be included in other materials released to the pub-
lic. These forward-looking statements are intended to provide
management’s current expectations or plans for our future
operating and financial performance, based on assumptions
currently believed to be valid. Forward-looking statements can
be identified by the use of words such as “believe,” “expect,”
“plans,” “strategy,” “prospects,” “estimate,” “project,” “target,”
“anticipate” and other words of similar meaning in connection
with a discussion of future operating or financial performance.
These include, among others, statements relating to:

• Future earnings and other measures of financial performance
• Future cash flow and uses of cash
• The effect of economic downturns or growth in particular

regions
• The effect of changes in the level of activity in particular

industries or markets
• The availability and cost of materials, components, services

and supplies
• The scope, nature or impact of acquisition activity and inte-

gration into our businesses

• The development, production and support of advanced tech-
nologies and new products and services

• New business opportunities
• Restructuring costs and savings
• The effective negotiation of collective bargaining agreements
• The outcome of contingencies
• Future repurchases of common stock
• Future levels of indebtedness and capital spending
• Pension plan assumptions and future contributions

All forward-looking statements involve risks and uncer-
tainties that may cause actual results to differ materially from
those expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements.
For additional information identifying factors that may cause
actual results to vary materially from those stated in the for-
ward-looking statements, see our reports on Forms 10-K, 10-Q
and 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
from time to time. Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for 2006
includes important information as to these factors in the “Busi-
ness” section under the headings “General,” “Description
of Business by Segment” and “Other Matters Relating to our
Business as a Whole” and in the “Risk Factors” and “Legal Pro-
ceedings” sections.

Cautionary Note Concerning Factors
That May Affect Future Results

James E. Geisler
Vice President, Finance

Gregory J. Hayes
Vice President,

Accounting & Finance

George David
Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer

Louis R. Chênevert
President and

Chief Operating Officer

Management’s Report on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting

The management of UTC is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting.
Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external reporting purposes in accordance with account-
ing principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control
over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstate-
ments. Management has assessed the effectiveness of UTC’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,

2006. In making its assessment, management has utilized the
criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organiza-
tions (COSO) of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control
– Integrated Framework. Management concluded that based
on its assessment, UTC’s internal control over financial report-
ing was effective as of December 31, 2006. UTC management’s
assessment of the effectiveness of UTC’s internal control over
financial reporting, as of December 31, 2006, has been audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered
public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears
on page 51.
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Report of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareowners of
United Technologies Corporation:

We have completed integrated audits of United
Technologies Corporation’s consolidated financial statements
and of its internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006 in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Our opinions, based on our audits, are presented below.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations,
of cash flows and of changes in shareowners’ equity present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of United
Technologies Corporation and its subsidiaries at December
31, 2006 and 2005, and the results of their operations and their
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2006 in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Corporation’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits of these statements in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit of financial statements includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 1 of the consolidated financial
statements, the Corporation has recognized conditional asset
retirement obligations to conform with the provisions of
FASB Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset
RetirementObligationsas of December 31, 2005, and recognized
the funded status of its benefit plans in accordance with the
provisions of FASB Statement No. 158, Employers’ Accounting
for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans —
an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R),
as of December 31, 2006.

Internal control over financial reporting
Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, included

in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting, that the Corporation maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2006 based on criteria established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), is
fairly stated, in all material respects, based on those criteria.
Furthermore, in our opinion, the Corporation maintained, in
all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established
in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the

COSO. The Corporation’s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions
on management’s assessment and on the effectiveness of the
Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting based
on our audit. We conducted our audit of internal control over
financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. An audit of internal control over financial reporting
includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment,
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness
of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we
consider necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A corporation’s internal control over financial reporting is
a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A corporation’s
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the corporation;
(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the corporation
are being made only in accordance with authorizations
of management and directors of the corporation; and (iii)
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
corporation’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Hartford, Connecticut

February 8, 2007

Consolidated financial statements
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( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS) 2006 2005 2004

Revenues
Product sales $34,271 $30,641 $26,209

Service sales 12,847 11,637 10,491

Financing revenues and other income, net 711 447 745

47,829 42,725 37,445

Costs and Expenses
Cost of products sold 26,089 23,320 20,404

Cost of services sold 8,651 7,615 6,838

Research and development 1,529 1,367 1,267

Selling, general and administrative 5,462 5,241 4,635

Operating Profit 6,098 5,182 4,301

Interest 606 498 363

Income before income taxes and minority interests 5,492 4,684 3,938

Income taxes 1,494 1,253 1,031

Minority interests in subsidiaries’ earnings 266 267 234

Income before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle 3,732 3,164 2,673

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax (Note 1) — 95 —

Net Income $ 3,732 $ 3,069 $ 2,673

Earnings per Share of Common Stock
Basic:

Income before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle $ 3.81 $ 3.19 $ 2.69

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle $ — $ 0.09 $ —

Net income $ 3.81 $ 3.10 $ 2.69

Diluted:

Income before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle $ 3.71 $ 3.12 $ 2.64

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle $ — $ 0.09 $ —

Net income $ 3.71 $ 3.03 $ 2.64

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Operations
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( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS — SHARES IN THOUSANDS) 2006 2005

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,546 $ 2,247

Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $324 and $318) 7,679 7,240

Inventories and contracts in progress 6,657 5,659

Future income tax benefits 1,261 1,427

Other current assets 701 633

Total Current Assets 18,844 17,206

Customer financing assets 1,073 1,152

Future income tax benefits 1,690 719

Fixed assets 5,725 5,623

Goodwill 14,146 13,007

Intangible assets 3,216 3,059

Other assets 2,447 5,159

Total Assets $47,141 $45,925

Liabilities and Shareowners’ Equity
Short-term borrowings $ 857 $ 1,612

Accounts payable 4,263 3,820

Accrued liabilities 10,051 9,220

Long-term debt currently due 37 693

Total Current Liabilities 15,208 15,345

Long-term debt 7,037 5,935

Future pension and postretirement benefit obligations 2,926 2,813

Other long-term liabilities 3,837 4,063

Total Liabilities 29,008 28,156

Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (Notes 4 and 14)

Minority interests in subsidiary companies 836 778

Shareowners’ Equity:

Capital Stock:

Preferred Stock, $1 par value; Authorized — 250,000 shares; None issued or outstanding — —

Common Stock, $1 par value; Authorized — 4,000,000 shares; Issued 1,351,471 and 1,339,444 shares 9,622 8,793

Treasury Stock 355,771 and 325,591 common shares at cost (9,413) (7,418)

Retained earnings 18,754 16,051

Unearned ESOP shares (227) (241)

Accumulated other non-shareowners’ changes in equity:

Foreign currency translation 633 20

Minimum pension liability — (344)

Other (2,072) 130

Total Accumulated Other Non-Shareowners’ Changes in Equity (1,439) (194)

Total Shareowners’ Equity 17,297 16,991

Total Liabilities and Shareowners’ Equity $47,141 $45,925

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Balance Sheet
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005 2004

Operating Activities
Net income $ 3,732 $ 3,069 $ 2,673

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash flows provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 1,033 984 978

Deferred income tax (benefit) provision (214) 262 196

Minority interests in subsidiaries’ earnings 266 267 234

Stock compensation cost 180 153 169

Change in:

Accounts receivable (35) (830) (368)

Inventories and contracts in progress (789) (430) (106)

Other current assets 25 (39) 15

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 990 862 372

Voluntary contributions to global pension plans (190) (663) (906)

Other, net (195) 699 339

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 4,803 4,334 3,596

Investing Activities
Capital expenditures (954) (929) (795)

Increase in customer financing assets (314) (285) (309)

Decrease in customer financing assets 382 215 258

Business acquisitions (911) (4,063) (1,075)

Dispositions of businesses 451 308 27

Other, net 85 105 132

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (1,261) (4,649) (1,762)

Financing Activities
Issuance of long-term debt 1,109 2,373 —

Repayment of long-term debt (825) (504) (535)

(Decrease) increase in short-term borrowings (817) 237 577

Common Stock issued under employee stock plans 346 282 343

Dividends paid on Common Stock (951) (832) (660)

Repurchase of Common Stock (2,068) (1,181) (992)

Dividends to minority interests and other (136) (40) (32)

Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Financing Activities (3,342) 335 (1,299)

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on Cash and cash equivalents 99 (38) 107

Net increase (decrease) in Cash and cash equivalents 299 (18) 642

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 2,247 2,265 1,623

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 2,546 $ 2,247 $ 2,265

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:

Interest paid, net of amounts capitalized $ 575 $ 509 $ 522

Income taxes paid, net of refunds $ 1,347 $ 932 $ 758

Non-cash investing and financing activities include:

Contributions of UTC common stock of $150 and $157 in 2006 and 2005,

respectively, to domestic defined benefit pension plans

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Consolidated Statement of Changes
in Shareowners’ Equity

Accumulated
Unearned Other Non-Shareowners’

Common Treasury Retained ESOP Non-Shareowners’ Changes in Equity
(IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS) Stock Stock Earnings Shares Changes in Equity for the Period

December 31, 2003 $ 7,407 $ (5,335) $ 11,953 $ (273) $ (1,799) $ 3,414

Common Stock issued under employee plans

(15.8 million shares), including tax benefit of $141 699 15 (51) 17

Common Stock repurchased (21.8 million shares) (992)

Dividends on Common Stock ($0.70 per share) (660)

Dividends on ESOP Common Stock ($0.70 per share) (35)

Non-Shareowners’ Changes in Equity:

Net income 2,673 2,673

Foreign currency translation adjustments 514 514

Minimum pension liability adjustments, net of

income taxes of $46 32 32

Unrealized holding gain on marketable equity

securities, net of income taxes of $57 91 91

Unrealized cash flow hedging gain, net of income

taxes of $7 10 10

December 31, 2004 $ 8,106 $ (6,312) $ 13,880 $ (256) $ (1,152) $ 3,320

Common Stock issued under employee plans

(11.2 million shares), including tax benefit of $59 592 13 (25) 15

Common Stock contributed to defined benefit

pension plans (3.0 million shares) 95 62

Common Stock repurchased (22.6 million shares) (1,181)

Dividends on Common Stock ($0.88 per share) (832)

Dividends on ESOP Common Stock ($0.88 per share) (41)

Non-Shareowners’ Changes in Equity:

Net income 3,069 3,069

Foreign currency translation adjustments (190) (190)

Minimum pension liability adjustments, net of

income taxes of $711 1,205 1,205

Unrealized holding loss on marketable equity

securities, including tax benefit of $32 (49) (49)

Unrealized cash flow hedging loss, including

tax benefit of $2 (8) (8)

December 31, 2005 $ 8,793 $ (7,418) $ 16,051 $ (241) $ (194) $ 4,027

Common Stock issued under employee plans

(12.6 million shares), including tax benefit of $101 738 14 (34) 14

Common Stock contributed to defined benefit

pension plans (2.5 million shares) 91 59

Common Stock repurchased (33.3 million shares) (2,068)

Dividends on Common Stock ($1.02 per share) (951)

Dividends on ESOP Common Stock ($1.02 per share) (44)

Adjustment to initially apply SFAS No. 158,

including tax benefit of $1,145 (1,831)

Non-Shareowners’ Changes in Equity:

Net income 3,732 3,732

Foreign currency translation adjustments 613 613

Minimum pension liability adjustment, net of

income taxes of $8 20 20

Unrealized holding gain on marketable equity

securities, net of income taxes of $4 6 6

Unrealized cash flow hedging loss, including

tax benefit of $28 (53) (53)

December 31, 2006 $9,622 $(9,413) $18,754 $(227) $(1,439) $4,318

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Note 1. Summary of Accounting Principles
The preparation of financial statements requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

CONSOLIDATION. The Consolidated Financial Statements
include the accounts of UTC and our controlled subsidiaries.
Intercompany transactions have been eliminated.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS. Cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term cash
investments that are highly liquid in nature and have original
maturities of three months or less.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE. Current and long-term accounts
receivable include retainage of $108 million and $117 million in
2006 and 2005, respectively, and unbilled receivables of $487
million and $537 million in 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Retainage represents amounts that, pursuant to the con-
tract, are not due until project completion and acceptance by
the customer. Unbilled receivables represent revenues that
are not currently billable to the customer under the terms of
the contract. These items are expected to be collected in the
normal course of business. Long-term accounts receivable are
included in other assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

MARKETABLE EQUITY SECURITIES. Equity securities that have
a readily determinable fair value and that we do not intend
to trade are classified as available for sale and carried at fair
value. Unrealized holding gains and losses are recorded as a
separate component of shareowners’ equity, net of deferred
income taxes.

INVENTORIES AND CONTRACTS IN PROGRESS. Inventories and
contracts in progress are stated at the lower of cost or estimated
realizable value and are primarily based on first-in, first-out
(FIFO) or average cost methods; however, certain subsidiaries
use the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method. If inventories that were
valued using the LIFO method had been valued under the FIFO
method, they would have been higher by $170 million and $137
million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Costs accumulated against specific contracts or orders
are at actual cost. Materials in excess of requirements for con-
tracts and current or anticipated orders have been reserved as
appropriate. Manufacturing costs are allocated to current pro-
duction and firm contracts.

FIXED ASSETS. Fixed assets are stated at cost. Depreciation is
computed over the assets’ useful lives using the straight-line
method, except for aerospace assets acquired prior to January
1, 1999, which are depreciated using accelerated methods.

GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS. Goodwill repre-
sents costs in excess of fair values assigned to the underlying
net assets of acquired businesses. Goodwill and intangible
assets deemed to have indefinite lives are not amortized. All
other intangible assets are amortized over their estimated
useful lives. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets
are subject to annual impairment testing using the guidance

and criteria described in Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”
This testing compares carrying values to fair values and, when
appropriate, the carrying value of these assets is reduced to
fair value. During 2006, we were not required to record any
impairment on goodwill or indefinite-lived intangibles.

OTHER LONG-LIVED ASSETS. We evaluate the potential impair-
ment of other long-lived assets when appropriate. If the
carrying value of assets exceeds the sum of the undiscounted
expected future cash flows, the carrying value of the asset is
written down to fair value.

INCOME TAXES. We have exposures related to tax filings in the
ordinary course of business. We periodically assess our liabili-
ties and contingencies for all tax years under audit based upon
the latest information available. For those matters where it is
probable that an adjustment will be asserted, we have recorded
our best estimate of tax liability, including related interest
charges, in our Consolidated Financial Statements.

REVENUE RECOGNITION. Sales under government and
commercial fixed-price contracts and government fixed-
price-incentive contracts are recorded at the time deliveries
are made or, in some cases, on a percentage-of-completion
basis. Sales under cost-reimbursement contracts are recorded
as work is performed.

Sales under elevator and escalator sales, installation and
modernization contracts are accounted for under the percent-
age-of-completion method.

Losses, if any, on contracts are provided for when
anticipated. Loss provisions on original equipment contracts
are recognized to the extent that estimated inventoriable
manufacturing, engineering, product warranty and prod-
uct performance guarantee costs exceed the projected
revenue from the products contemplated under the contractual
arrangement. Products contemplated under the contractual
arrangement include products purchased under the contract
and, in the aerospace business, required replacement parts
that are purchased separately and subsequently for incorpora-
tion into the original equipment. Revenue projections used in
determining contract loss provisions are based upon estimates
of the quantity, pricing and timing of future product deliveries.
Losses are recognized on shipment to the extent that inven-
toriable manufacturing costs, estimated warranty costs and
product performance guarantee costs exceed revenue realized.
Contract accounting requires estimates of future costs over
the performance period of the contract as well as estimates
of award fees and other sources of revenue. These estimates
are subject to change and result in adjustments to margins on
contracts in progress. The extent of progress toward comple-
tion on our long-term commercial aerospace equipment and
helicopter contracts is measured using units of delivery. In
addition, we use the cost-to-cost method for development
contracts in the aerospace businesses and for elevator and
escalator sales, installation and modernization contracts. For
long-term aftermarket contracts, revenue is recognized over
the contract period in proportion to the costs expected to be
incurred in performing services under the contract. We review
our cost estimates on significant contracts on a quarterly basis,

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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and for others, no less frequently than annually or when cir-
cumstances change and warrant a modification to a previous
estimate. Adjustments to contract loss provisions are recorded
in earnings upon identification.

Service sales, representing aftermarket repair and main-
tenance activities, are recognized over the contractual period
or as services are performed.

Revenues from engine programs under collaboration
agreements are recorded as earned and the collaborator share
of revenue is recorded as a reduction of revenue at that time.
The collaborator share of revenues under Pratt & Whitney’s
engine programs was approximately $795 million, $664 million
and $583 million for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Costs
associated with engine programs under collaboration agree-
ments are expensed as incurred. The collaborator share of
program costs is recorded as a reduction of the related expense
item at that time.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT. Research and development
costs not specifically covered by contracts and those related
to the company sponsored share of research and develop-
ment activity in connection with cost-sharing arrangements
are charged to expense as incurred. Government research and
development support, not associated with specific contracts, is
recorded as a reduction to research and development expense
in the period earned. Repayment, if any, is in the form of future
royalties and is conditioned upon the achievement of certain
financial targets.

Research and development costs incurred under contracts
with customers are expensed as incurred and are reported as
a component of cost of products sold. Revenue from such con-
tracts is recognized as product sales when earned.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE AND HEDGING ACTIVITY. We conduct busi-
ness in many different currencies and, accordingly, are subject
to the inherent risks associated with foreign exchange rate
movements. The financial position and results of operations of
substantially all of our foreign subsidiaries are measured using
the local currency as the functional currency. Foreign currency
denominated assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dol-
lars at the exchange rates existing at the respective balance
sheet dates, and income and expense items are translated at
the average exchange rates during the respective periods. The
aggregate effects of translating the balance sheets of these
subsidiaries are deferred as a separate component of Share-
owners’ Equity.

We use derivative instruments, including swaps, forward
contracts and options, to manage certain foreign currency,
interest rate and commodity price exposures. Derivative instru-
ments are viewed as risk management tools by us and are not
used for trading or speculative purposes. Derivatives used for
hedging purposes must be designated and effective as a hedge
of the identified risk exposure at the inception of the contract.
Accordingly, changes in fair value of the derivative contract
must be highly correlated with changes in the fair value of the
underlying hedged item at inception of the hedge and over the
life of the hedge contract.

All derivative instruments are recorded on the balance
sheet at fair value. Derivatives used to hedge foreign-currency-
denominated balance sheet items are reported directly in

earnings along with offsetting transaction gains and losses on
the items being hedged. Derivatives used to hedge forecasted
cash flows associated with foreign currency commitments or
forecasted commodity purchases are accounted for as cash
flow hedges. Gains and losses on derivatives designated as
cash flow hedges are recorded in other comprehensive income
and reclassified to earnings in a manner that matches the tim-
ing of the earnings impact of the hedged transactions. The
ineffective portion of all hedges, if any, is recognized currently
in earnings.

ENVIRONMENTAL. Environmental investigatory, remediation,
operating and maintenance costs are accrued when it is prob-
able that a liability has been incurred and the amount can be
reasonably estimated. The most likely cost to be incurred is
accrued based on an evaluation of currently available facts with
respect to each individual site, including existing technology,
current laws and regulations and prior remediation experience.
Where no amount within a range of estimates is more likely,
the minimum is accrued. For sites with multiple responsible
parties, we consider our likely proportionate share of the antic-
ipated remediation costs and the ability of the other parties
to fulfill their obligations in establishing a provision for those
costs. Liabilities with fixed or reliably determinable future cash
payments are discounted. Accrued environmental liabilities
are not reduced by potential insurance reimbursements.

ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS. Financial Accounting Stan-
dards Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 47, “Accounting for
Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations (an interpretation
of FASB Statement No. 143)” was issued in March 2005. This
Interpretation provides clarification with respect to the timing
of liability recognition for legal obligations associated with the
retirement of tangible long-lived assets when the timing and/or
method of settlement of the obligation is conditional on a future
event. This Interpretation requires that the fair value of a liabil-
ity for a conditional asset retirement obligation be recognized
in the period in which it occurred if a reasonable estimate of
fair value can be made. We have determined that conditional
legal obligations exist for certain of our worldwide owned and
leased facilities related primarily to building materials. We
adopted this Interpretation on December 31, 2005 and recorded
a non-cash transition impact of $95 million, net of taxes, which
was reported as a Cumulative Effect of a Change in Account-
ing Principle, Net of Tax in the Statement of Operations, and a
liability for conditional asset retirement obligations of approxi-
mately $160 million. As of December 31, 2006, the outstanding
liability for asset retirement obligations was $188 million.

PENSION AND POSTRETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS. In September
2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Ben-
efit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans — an amendment
of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R)” (SFAS 158).
This statement requires balance sheet recognition of the over-
funded or underfunded status of pension and postretirement
benefit plans. Under SFAS 158, actuarial gains and losses, prior
service costs or credits, and any remaining transition assets
or obligations that have not been recognized under previous
accounting standards must be recognized in Accumulated
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Other Non-Shareowners’ Changes in Equity, net of tax effects,
until they are amortized as a component of net periodic ben-
efit cost. In addition, the measurement date (the date at
which plan assets and the benefit obligation are measured) is
required to be the company’s fiscal year end. Presently, we use
a November 30 measurement date for a majority of our pen-
sion and postretirement benefit plans. SFAS 158 is effective for
publicly-held companies for fiscal years ending after December
15, 2006, except for the measurement date provisions, which
are effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2008.
However, we early-adopted the measurement date provisions
of SFAS 158 effective January 1, 2007. Based on the funded
status of our plans as of December 31, 2006, the adoption of
SFAS 158 decreased total assets by approximately $2.4 billion,
decreased total liabilities by approximately $549 million and
reduced total shareowners’ equity by approximately $1.8 bil-
lion, net of taxes. The adoption of SFAS 158 did not affect our
results of operations.

Note 2. Business Acquisitions, Goodwill and
Intangible Assets
BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS. Our investments in businesses in
2006, 2005 and 2004 totaled $1.0 billion, $4.6 billion and $1.3 bil-
lion, including debt assumed of $138 million, $520 million and
$220 million, respectively.

The 2006 investments in businesses consisted principally
of a number of smaller acquisitions including Red Hawk Indus-
tries by UTC Fire & Security, Page Group Ltd. by Hamilton
Sundstrand and Longville Group Ltd. and Sensitech, Inc. by
Carrier.

The 2005 investments in businesses included Kidde plc for
$2.6 billion, Rocketdyne Power & Propulsion for approximately
$700 million, Lenel Systems International, Inc. for $440 million
and acquisition of the remaining minority interest in Otis LG
Elevator Company for $315 million.

On April 1, 2005, we completed the acquisition of Kidde, a
global provider of fire and safety products and services, includ-
ing aircraft fire protection systems to commercial, industrial,
aerospace and retail customers. The purchase price of $3.1 bil-
lion included approximately $520 million of debt assumed net
of approximately $150 million of cash acquired. In December
2004, we announced our offer to purchase 100% of the out-
standing shares of Kidde. We purchased an initial interest of
slightly less than 20% of the outstanding shares of Kidde in
2004 for approximately $450 million. Payment for the remain-
ing outstanding shares of Kidde was completed in the second
quarter of 2005, and we assumed control. The following table
summarizes the estimated fair values of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed from Kidde as of April 1, 2005, the effective
date of the acquisition:

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)

Current assets $ 942

Property, plant and equipment 201

Intangible assets 966

Goodwill 2,046

Other assets 56

Total assets acquired $4,211

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 465

Long-term debt and short-term borrowings 523

Deferred taxes 389

Pension and postretirement obligations 100

Other liabilities 43

Total liabilities assumed $1,520

Net assets acquired $2,691

In connection with the acquisition of Kidde, we recorded
$966 million of identifiable intangible assets. The Kidde trade-
mark, valued at $132 million, was assigned an indefinite life.
The amortized intangible assets and the weighted-average
amortization periods are as follows: trademarks — $73 million
(15 years), customer relationships — $696 million (3–32 years)
and completed technology — $65 million (10 years).

Beginning in the second quarter of 2005, Kidde’s aircraft
fire protection systems business was included in our Hamilton
Sundstrand segment, while Kidde’s industrial fire protection
and residential and commercial fire safety businesses were
consolidated with Chubb creating the UTC Fire & Security
segment.

Rocketdyne was acquired on August 2, 2005 for a pur-
chase price of approximately $700 million in cash. Rocketdyne
is a leader in sophisticated aerospace propulsion systems
including the space shuttle main engine and engines used
on the Delta rocket programs. We recorded approximately
$439 million of goodwill and $87 million of intangible assets in
connection with this acquisition. The addition of Rocketdyne
strengthens our core space propulsion, power and exploration
business by increasing product breadth and leveraging com-
plementary technologies. The Rocketdyne business has been
integrated into our existing space propulsion, space power and
energy businesses within the Pratt & Whitney and Hamilton
Sundstrand segments.

In May 2005, we completed the acquisition of Lenel for
approximately $440 million. Lenel provides software and inte-
grated systems for the corporate and government security
markets and will provide us with high-end technological access
to these markets as part of UTC’s Fire & Security segment. We
recorded approximately $380 million of goodwill and $80 mil-
lion of intangible assets in connection with this acquisition.

In October 2005, we acquired the remaining 19.9% minor-
ity interest in our joint venture, Otis LG Elevator Company for
$315 million and renamed the company Otis Elevator Korea.
As part of the acquisition, we recorded $168 million of goodwill
and $27 million of other identifiable intangible assets.

The 2004 investments in businesses include the purchase
of slightly less than 20% of Kidde shares for $450 million and
Carrier’s acquisition of Linde AG’s refrigeration division for
$324 million, including assumed debt of $162 million.



2006 ANNUAL REPORT 59

Balance Goodwill Foreign Balance
as of resulting from currency as of

January 1, business translation December 31,
( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 combinations and other 2006

Otis $ 1,165 $ 28 $112 $ 1,305

Carrier 2,384 166 54 2,604

UTC Fire & Security 3,920 232 278 4,430

Pratt & Whitney 928 76 (2) 1,002

Hamilton Sundstrand 4,361 113 51 4,525

Sikorsky 161 31 — 192

Total Segments 12,919 646 493 14,058

Eliminations & Other 88 — — 88

Total $13,007 $646 $493 $14,146

The assets and liabilities of the acquired businesses are
accounted for under the purchase method of accounting and
recorded at their fair values at the dates of acquisition. The
excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of
the net assets acquired was recorded as an increase in good-
will of $646 million in 2006, $3.3 billion in 2005, and $471 million
in 2004. The results of operations of acquired businesses have
been included in the Consolidated Statement of Operations
beginning as of the effective date of acquisition. The final

purchase price allocation for acquisitions is subject to the final-
ization of the valuation of certain assets and liabilities, plans
for consolidation of facilities and relocation of employees and
other integration activities. As a result, preliminary amounts
assigned to assets and liabilities will be subject to revision in
future periods.

GOODWILL. The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill, by
segment, are as follows:

Contributing to the $1,139 million increase in goodwill
during 2006, are the impacts of changes in foreign currency
exchange rates and the finalization of purchase accounting,
which includes approximately $100 million of Kidde restructur-
ing costs.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS. Identifiable intangible assets are com-
prised of the following:

2006 2005

Gross Accumulated Gross Accumulated
( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) Amount Amortization Amount Amortization

Amortized:

Service portfolios $1,304 $ (507) $1,126 $(392)

Patents and trademarks 362 (79) 315 (58)

Other, principally customer relationships 1,845 (421) 1,631 (248)

$3,511 $(1,007) $3,072 $(698)

Unamortized:

Trademarks and other $ 712 $ — $ 685 $ —

Amortization of intangible assets for the year ended
December 31, 2006 was $250 million. Amortization of these
intangible assets for 2007 through 2011 is expected to approxi-
mate $225 million per year.
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Note 3. Earnings Per Share

( IN MILLIONS, Average Per Share
EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS) Income Shares Amount

December 31, 2006
Net income $3,732

Net income — basic 3,732 980.0 $3.81

Stock awards — 25.7

Net income — diluted $3,732 1,005.7 $3.71

December 31, 2005

Income before cumulative

effect of a change in

accounting principle $ 3,164 991.2 $ 3.19

Cumulative effect of a change

in accounting principle, net (95) 991.2 (.09)

Net income — basic 3,069 991.2 3.10

Income before cumulative

effect of a change in

accounting principle 3,164 991.2

Stock awards — 23.3

Diluted — income before

cumulative effect of a change

in accounting principle 3,164 1,014.5 3.12

Cumulative effect of a change

in accounting principle, net (95) 1,014.5 (.09)

Net income — diluted $ 3,069 1,014.5 $ 3.03

December 31, 2004

Net income $2,673

Net income — basic 2,673 992.8 $2.69

Stock awards — 18.0

Net income — diluted $2,673 1,010.8 $2.64

Note 4. Commercial Aerospace Industry Assets
and Commitments
We have receivables and other financing assets with commer-
cial aerospace industry customers totaling $2,437 million and
$2,697 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Customer financing assets related to commercial aero-
space industry customers consist of products under lease of
$640 million and notes and leases receivable of $351 million.
The notes and leases receivable are scheduled to mature as
follows: $36 million in 2007, $26 million in 2008, $10 million in
2009, $10 million in 2010, $10 million in 2011, and $259 million
thereafter.

Financing commitments, in the form of secured debt,
guarantees or lease financing, are provided to commercial
aerospace customers. The extent to which the financing
commitments will be utilized is not currently known, since cus-
tomers may be able to obtain more favorable terms from other
financing sources. We may also arrange for third-party investors
to assume a portion of these commitments. If financing com-
mitments are exercised, debt financing is generally secured
by assets with fair market values equal to or exceeding the
financed amounts with interest rates established at the time of
funding. We also may lease aircraft and subsequently sublease
the aircraft to customers under long-term noncancelable oper-
ating leases. In some instances, customers may have minimum
lease terms, which result in sublease periods shorter than our
lease obligation. Lastly, we have made residual value and other
guarantees related to various commercial aerospace customer-

financing arrangements. The estimated fair market values of
the guaranteed assets equal or exceed the value of the related
guarantees, net of existing reserves.

Our commercial aerospace financing and rental com-
mitments as of December 31, 2006 were $1,126 million and
are exercisable as follows: $446 million in 2007, $305 million
in 2008, $131 million in 2009, $22 million in 2010, $21 million
in 2011 and $201 million thereafter. Our financing obligations
with customers are contingent upon maintenance of certain
levels of financial condition by the customers.

In addition, we have residual value and other guarantees
of $194 million as of December 31, 2006.

We have a 33% interest in International Aero Engines
AG (IAE), an international consortium of four shareholders
organized to support the V2500 commercial aircraft engine
program. Our interest in IAE is accounted for under the equity
method of accounting. IAE may offer customer financing in the
form of guarantees, secured debt or lease financing in connec-
tion with V2500 engine sales. At December 31, 2006, IAE had
financing commitments of $815 million and asset value guaran-
tees of $45 million. Our share of IAE’s financing commitments
and asset value guarantees was approximately $280 million at
December 31, 2006. In addition, IAE had lease obligations under
long-term noncancelable leases of approximately $348 million,
on an undiscounted basis, through 2020 related to aircraft,
which are subleased to customers under long-term leases.
These aircraft have fair market values, which approximate the
financed amounts, net of reserves. The shareholders of IAE
have guaranteed IAE’s financing arrangements to the extent of
their respective ownership interests. In the event of default by
a shareholder on certain of these financing arrangements, the
other shareholders would be proportionately responsible.

Total reserves related to receivables and financing assets,
financing commitments and guarantees were $287 million at
December 31, 2006 and 2005.

Note 5. Inventories and Contracts in Progress

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005

Inventories consist of the following:

Raw material $ 1,082 $ 1,000

Work-in-process 2,409 1,752

Finished goods 2,956 2,640

Contracts in progress 3,603 2,971

10,050 8,363

Less:

Progress payments, secured by lien,

on U.S. Government contracts (259) (133)

Billings on contracts in progress (3,134) (2,571)

$ 6,657 $ 5,659

Raw materials, work-in-process and finished goods are
net of valuation reserves of $422 million and $391 million as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Contracts in progress principally relate to elevator and
escalator contracts and include costs of manufactured compo-
nents, accumulated installation costs and estimated earnings
on incomplete contracts.

Our sales contracts in many cases are long-term con-
tracts expected to be performed over periods exceeding twelve
months. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, approximately 63%
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and 57%, respectively, of total inventories and contracts in
progress have been acquired or manufactured under such
long-term contracts, a portion of which is not scheduled for
delivery within the next twelve months.

Note 6. Fixed Assets

Estimated
( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) Useful Lives 2006 2005

Land $ 344 $ 356

Buildings and

improvements 20–40 years 4,306 4,331

Machinery, tools

and equipment 3–20 years 8,561 8,060

Other, including

under construction 527 581

13,738 13,328

Accumulated depreciation (8,013) (7,705)

$ 5,725 $ 5,623

Depreciation expense was $724 million in 2006, $709 mil-
lion in 2005 and $793 million in 2004.

Note 7. Accrued Liabilities

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005

Advances on sales contracts and

service billings $ 3,552 $2,642

Accrued salaries, wages and

employee benefits 1,626 1,623

Litigation and contract matters 560 862

Service and warranty 508 478

Income taxes payable 748 545

Interest payable 228 197

Accrued property, sales and use taxes 191 169

Accrued restructuring costs 178 269

Accrued workers compensation 156 118

Other 2,304 2,317

$10,051 $9,220

Note 8. Borrowings and Lines of Credit

Short-term borrowings consist of the following:

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005

Domestic borrowings $ 6 $ 5

Foreign bank borrowings 401 548

Commercial paper 450 1,059

$857 $1,612

The weighted-average interest rates applicable to short-
term borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2006 and 2005
were 5.9% and 5.2%, respectively. At December 31, 2006,
approximately $1.9 billion was available under short-term lines
of credit with local banks at our various domestic and interna-
tional subsidiaries.

At December 31, 2006, we had credit commitments from
banks totaling $2.5 billion. We had a credit commitment of $1.5
billion under a revolving credit agreement, which serves as
a backup facility for the issuance of commercial paper. This
revolving credit agreement was renewed in October 2006 and
will expire in October 2011. In November 2006, we entered into
a $1.0 billion multi-currency revolving credit agreement that is
to be used for general corporate funding purposes, including
acquisitions. There were no borrowings under either of these
revolving credit agreements at December 31, 2006.

In May 2006, we issued $1.1 billion of long-term debt, the
proceeds of which were used to repay commercial paper bor-
rowings. We generally use our commercial paper borrowings
for general corporate purposes including financing acquisitions
and the repurchase of our stock. The long-term debt issued in
May 2006 is comprised of two series of notes as follows:

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) Principal Rate Maturity

$600 6.05% June 1, 2036

$500 LIBOR +.07% June 1, 2009

We may redeem the notes due in 2009, in whole or in part,
at any time after June 1, 2007 at a redemption price in U.S. dollars
equal to 100% of the principal amount, plus interest accrued.

In April 2005, we issued $2.4 billion of long-term debt, the
proceeds of which were used primarily to support the funding
of the Kidde acquisition. The long-term debt is comprised of
three series of notes as follows:

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) Principal Rate Maturity

$ 600 4.375% May 1, 2010

$1,200 4.875% May 1, 2015

$ 600 5.400% May 1, 2035



UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION62

Principal payments required on long-term debt for the
next five years are: $37 million in 2007, $48 million in 2008,
$950 million in 2009, $1,104 million in 2010, and $535 million
in 2011.

At December 31, 2006, up to approximately $900 million
of additional debt and equity securities could be issued under
a shelf registration statement on file with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

The percentage of total debt at floating interest rates was
17% and 26% at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Note 9. Taxes on Income

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005 2004

Current:

United States:

Federal $ 667 $ 230 $ 149

State 11 64 48

Foreign 1,030 697 638

1,708 991 835

Future:

United States:

Federal (82) 135 283

State 38 6 (40)

Foreign (170) 121 (47)

(214) 262 196

Income tax expense $1,494 $1,253 $1,031

Attributable to items credited

(charged) to equity and

goodwill $1,287 $ (597) $ 109

Future income taxes represent the tax effects of trans-
actions, which are reported in different periods for tax and
financial reporting purposes. These amounts consist of the tax
effects of temporary differences between the tax and financial
reporting balance sheets and tax carryforwards. Pursuant to
SFAS 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” current and non-
current future income tax benefits and payables within the
same tax jurisdiction are generally offset for presentation in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet.

The tax effects of net temporary differences and tax car-
ryforwards which gave rise to future income tax benefits and
payables at December 31, 2006 and 2005 are as follows:

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005

Future income tax benefits:

Insurance and employee benefits $1,279 $ 576

Other asset basis differences (303) 420

Other liability basis differences 1,339 780

Tax loss carryforwards 523 444

Tax credit carryforwards 638 422

Valuation allowance (525) (496)

$2,951 $2,146

Future income taxes payable:

Fixed assets $ 330 $ 472

Other items, net 272 678

$ 602 $1,150

Valuation allowances have been established primarily
for tax credit, tax loss carryforwards, and certain foreign tem-
porary differences to reduce the future income tax benefits to
expected realizable amounts. Of the total valuation allowance
amount of $542 million, $307 million was established in pur-
chase accounting, relating primarily to the purchase of Chubb.
Subsequently recognized tax benefits associated with a valu-
ation allowance recorded in a business combination will be
recorded as an adjustment to goodwill.

The sources of income from continuing operations before
income taxes and minority interests are:

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005 2004

United States $2,410 $1,936 $1,808

Foreign 3,082 2,748 2,130

$5,492 $4,684 $3,938

United States income taxes have not been provided on
undistributed earnings of international subsidiaries. It is not
practicable to estimate the amount of tax that might be pay-
able. Our intention is to reinvest these earnings permanently or
to repatriate the earnings only when it is tax effective to do so.
Accordingly, we believe that any U.S. tax on repatriated earn-
ings would be substantially offset by U.S. foreign tax credits.

The American Jobs Creation Act, signed into law in Octo-
ber 2004, provided an opportunity in 2005 to repatriate up to
$500 million of reinvested foreign earnings and to claim an 85%
dividend received deduction against the repatriated amount.
We evaluated the potential effects of the repatriation provision
and determined not to repatriate earnings under this provision.

Total long-term debt consists of the following:
Weighted-

Average
( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) Interest Rate Maturity 2006 2005

Notes and other debt denominated in:

U.S. dollars 6.1% 2007–2036 $6,947 $6,455

Foreign currency 5.7% 2007–2019 29 42

ESOP debt 7.7% 2008–2009 98 131

7,074 6,628

Less: Long-term debt currently due 37 693

$7,037 $5,935
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Differences between effective income tax rates and the
statutory U.S. federal income tax rates are as follows:

2006 2005 2004

Statutory U.S. federal income

tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

Tax on international activities

including exports (7.8) (4.9) (7.9)

Benefit of prior period foreign

tax credits __ (2.9) —

Impact of noncore business

transactions __ (0.4) —

Tax audit settlements (0.6) (1.4) (1.9)

Other 0.6 1.4 1.0

Effective income tax rate 27.2% 26.8% 26.2%

The effective tax rate for 2006, 2005 and 2004 reflects the
tax benefit associated with lower tax rates on international
earnings, which we intend to permanently reinvest outside the
United States.

In the normal course of business, various tax authorities
examine us, including the Internal Revenue Service (IRS). The
2005 effective tax rate reflects an approximately $66 million
reduction in tax expense primarily as a result of the reevalua-
tion of our liabilities and contingencies in light of the completion
and commencement of exam cycles. In 2006, a residual disputed
issue related to the 1999 disposition of a business segment was
settled with the Appeals Division of the IRS and was reviewed
by the U.S. Congress Joint Committee on Taxation. The settle-
ment resulted in an approximately $35 million reduction in tax
expense. The 2004 effective tax rate reflects an approximately
$80 million reduction in tax expense as a result of a settle-
ment with the IRS with respect to claims and other disputed
items related to the 1986 to 1993 tax years. In 2007, we expect
that the IRS will complete the examination phase of the 2000
through 2003 audit and commence examination of 2004 and
2005. Although the outcome of these matters cannot currently
be determined, we believe adequate provision has been made
for any potential unfavorable financial statement impact.

The 2005 effective tax rate also reflects a benefit of
approximately $135 million related to an amended return filed
in 2005, which claimed credits for 2003 foreign taxes previously
recognized as deductions. The 2005 effective tax rate further
reflects a tax benefit of approximately $19 million associated
with noncore business divestitures. We recognized a tax cost
related to the tax gain from the sale of a Hamilton Sundstrand
division and tax benefits related to tax losses from the sale of
a Carrier refrigeration operation and from the sale and liqui-
dation of a Pratt & Whitney subsidiary. The third-party sales
did not result in significant pre-tax gains or losses for financial
reporting purposes.

Tax credit carryforwards, principally state and federal, at
December 31, 2006 were $638 million, of which $314 million
expire as follows: $21 million expire from 2007–2011, $195 mil-
lion from 2012–2016, and $98 million from 2017–2026.

Tax loss carryforwards, principally state and foreign, at
December 31, 2006 were $2,229 million, of which $1,114 mil-
lion expire as follows: $374 million from 2007–2011, $100 million
from 2012–2016, and $640 million from 2017–2026.

Note 10. Employee Benefit Plans
We sponsor numerous domestic and foreign employee benefit
plans, which are discussed below.

As discussed in Note 1, we have adopted the balance
sheet recognition requirements of SFAS 158 on December 31,
2006 and will early adopt the measurement date requirements
effective January 1, 2007.

EMPLOYEE SAVINGS PLANS. We sponsor various employee sav-
ings plans. Our contributions to employer sponsored defined
contribution plans were $205 million, $165 million and $145 mil-
lion for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Our non-union domestic employee savings plan uses an
Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP) for employer contri-
butions. External borrowings, guaranteed by us and reported
as debt in the Consolidated Balance Sheet, were used by the
ESOP to fund a portion of its purchase of ESOP Convertible
Preferred Stock (ESOP Preferred Stock) from us. On November
6, 2003, the Trustee and we effected the conversion of all 10.6
million outstanding shares of ESOP Preferred Stock into 85 mil-
lion shares of common stock. At the time of the conversion,
each share of ESOP Preferred Stock was convertible into four
shares of common stock, had a guaranteed minimum value of
$65, a $4.80 annual dividend and was redeemable by us at any
time for $65 per share. Because of its guaranteed value, the
ESOP Preferred Stock was classified outside of Shareowners’
Equity. In the December 31, 2003 balance sheet, common stock
held by the ESOP and committed to employees is classified as
permanent equity because it no longer has a guaranteed value.
Common stock held by the ESOP is included in the average
number of common shares outstanding for both basic and
diluted earnings per share.

Shares of common stock are allocated to employees’
ESOP accounts at fair value on the date earned. Cash divi-
dends on common stock held by the ESOP are used for debt
service payments. Participants receive additional shares in lieu
of cash dividends. As ESOP debt service payments are made,
common stock is released from an unreleased shares account.
ESOP debt may be prepaid or re-amortized to either increase
or decrease the number of shares released so that the value of
released shares equals the value of plan benefit. We may also,
at our option, contribute additional common stock or cash to
the ESOP. At December 31, 2006, 42.8 million common shares
had been allocated to employees, leaving 27.8 million unallo-
cated common shares in the ESOP Trust, with an approximate
fair value of $1.7 billion.

PENSION PLANS. We sponsor both funded and unfunded domes-
tic and foreign defined benefit pension plans that cover the
majority of our employees.
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We use a November 30 measurement date for a majority
of our pension plans.

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005

Change in Benefit Obligation:
Beginning balance $20,937 $18,811

Service cost 432 389

Interest cost 1,128 1,101

Actuarial loss 103 1,238

Total benefits paid (1,055) (1,059)

Net settlement and curtailment gain (51) (44)

Acquisitions 2 746

Other 452 (245)

Ending balance $21,948 $20,937

Change in Plan Assets:
Beginning balance $18,131 $15,672

Actual return on plan assets 2,763 2,090

Employer contributions 508 865

Benefits paid from plan assets (1,032) (992)

Acquisitions — 665

Other 223 (169)

Ending balance $20,593 $18,131

Funded status $ (1,355) $ (2,806)

Unrecognized net actuarial loss * 4,793

Unrecognized prior service cost * 242

Unrecognized net transition obligation * 14

Post-measurement date contributions 174 243

Net amount recognized $ (1,181) $ 2,486

Amounts Recognized in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet Consist of:

Noncurrent assets $ 641 $ *

Current liability (23) *

Noncurrent liability (1,799) *

Prepaid benefit cost * 3,152

Accrued benefit cost * (1,275)

Intangible assets * 65

Accumulated other non-shareowners’

changes in equity * 544

Net amount recognized $ (1,181) $ 2,486

Amounts Recognized in Accumulated
Other Comprehensive Income

Consist of:
Net actuarial loss $ 3,253 $ *

Prior service cost 247 *

Transition obligation 14 *

Net amount recognized $ 3,514 $ *

*Not applicable due to change in accounting standard.

The amounts included in Other in the preceding table
reflect the impact of foreign exchange translation, primarily
for plans in England and Canada, and amendments to certain
domestic plans.

Qualified domestic pension plan benefits comprise
approximately 72% of the projected benefit obligation. Benefits
for union employees are generally based on a stated amount
for each year of service. For non-union employees, benefits are
generally based on an employee’s years of service and compen-
sation near retirement. A cash balance formula was adopted in

2003 for newly hired non-union employees and for other non-
union employees who made a one-time voluntary election to
have future benefit accruals determined under this formula.
Certain foreign plans, which comprise approximately 26% of
the projected benefit obligation, are considered defined benefit
plans for accounting purposes. Nonqualified domestic pension
plans provide supplementary retirement benefits to certain
employees and are not a material component of the projected
benefit obligation.

During 2006 and 2005, we voluntarily contributed cash
of $190 million and $663 million, respectively, to our defined
benefit pension plans. We also contributed $150 million and
$157 million of common stock to our defined benefit pension
plans in 2006 and 2005, respectively. The decrease in our min-
imum pension liability included in comprehensive income,
net of tax, was $20 million and $1,205 million in 2006 and
2005, respectively.

Information for pension plans with accumulated benefit
obligation in excess of plan assets:

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005

Projected benefit obligation $6,002 $5,664

Accumulated benefit obligation 5,210 4,863

Fair value of plan assets 4,292 3,653

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit
pension plans was $19.9 billion and $18.9 billion at December
31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

The components of the Net Periodic Benefit Cost are
as follows:

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005 2004

Pension Benefits:

Service cost $ 432 $ 389 $ 347

Interest cost 1,128 1,101 1,032

Expected return on

plan assets (1,413) (1,349) (1,261)

Amortization of prior

service cost 36 31 27

Amortization of unrecognized

net transition obligation 1 2 3

Recognized actuarial net loss 325 240 145

Net settlement and

curtailment loss 10 3 53

Net periodic pension benefit

cost — employer $ 519 $ 417 $ 346

The estimated amount that will be amortized from accu-
mulated other comprehensive income into Net Periodic Benefit
Cost in 2007 is as follows:

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)

Net actuarial loss $301

Prior service cost 37

Transition obligation 1

$339



2006 ANNUAL REPORT 65

Contributions to multiemployer plans were $132 mil-
lion, $126 million and $123 million for 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.

Major assumptions used in determining the benefit obli-
gation and net cost for pension plans are presented in the
following table as weighted-averages:

Benefit Obligation Net Cost

2006 2005 2006 2005 2004

Discount rate 5.4% 5.5% 5.5% 5.9% 6.1%

Salary scale 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0%

Expected return on plan assets — — 8.3% 8.4% 8.3%

In determining the expected return on plan assets, we
consider the relative weighting of plan assets, the historical
performance of total plan assets and individual asset classes
and economic and other indicators of future performance. In
addition, we may consult with and consider the opinions of
financial and other professionals in developing appropriate
return benchmarks.

Asset management objectives include maintaining an
adequate level of diversification to reduce interest rate and
market risk and providing adequate liquidity to meet immedi-
ate and future benefit payment requirements.

The allocation of pension plan assets is as follows:

Target Percentage
Allocation of Plan Assets

ASSET CATEGORY 2007 2006 2005

Equity securities 62%–71% 65% 71%

Debt securities 12%–22% 18% 21%

Real estate 1%–9% 5% 4%

Other 5%–15% 12% 4%

100% 100%

Our common stock represents approximately 3% and 4%
of total plan assets at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respec-
tively. Assets are rebalanced to the target asset allocation at
least once per calendar quarter.

Estimated Future Contributions
and Benefit Payments

We expect to make voluntary contributions of up to
$250 million to our defined benefit pension plans in 2007. Con-
tributions do not reflect benefits to be paid directly from
corporate assets.

Benefit payments, including amounts to be paid from
corporate assets, and reflecting expected future service, as
appropriate, are expected to be paid as follows: $1,093 million
in 2007, $1,124 million in 2008, $1,162 million in 2009, $1,201
million in 2010, $1,241 million in 2011, and $6,888 million from
2012 through 2016.

POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS. We sponsor a number of
postretirement benefit plans that provide health and life ben-
efits to eligible retirees. Such benefits are provided primarily
from domestic plans, which comprise approximately 86% of
the benefit obligation. The postretirement plans are primarily
unfunded. The allocation of assets in funded plans is approxi-
mately 31% equity and 69% fixed income.

We use a November 30 measurement date for a majority of
our postretirement benefit plans.

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005

Change in Benefit Obligation:
Beginning balance $ 1,079 $ 1,001

Service cost 8 7

Interest cost 57 59

Actuarial loss 15 17

Total benefits paid (81) (102)

Net settlement and curtailment loss — 7

Acquisitions — 91

Other (4) (1)

Ending balance $ 1,074 $ 1,079

Change in Plan Assets:
Beginning balance $ 58 $ 59

Actual return on plan assets 13 4

Employer contributions 3 7

Benefits paid from plan assets (12) (9)

Other 3 (3)

Ending balance $ 65 $ 58

Funded status $(1,009) $(1,021)

Unrecognized net actuarial gain * (25)

Unrecognized prior service cost * (28)

Post-measurement date contributions 15 10

Net amount recognized $ (994) $(1,064)

Amounts Recognized in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet Consist of:

Current liability $ (67) $ *

Noncurrent liability (927) (1,064)

$ (994) $(1,064)

Amounts Recognized in Accumulated
Other Comprehensive Income

Consist of:
Net actuarial gain $ (26) $ *

Prior service cost (14) *

$ (40) $ *

* Not applicable due to change in accounting standard.

(IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005 2004

Components of Net Periodic
Benefit Cost:

Other Postretirement Benefits:

Service cost $ 8 $ 7 $ 7

Interest cost 57 59 61

Expected return on

plan assets (4) (4) (4)

Amortization of prior

service cost (26) (26) (23)

Net settlement and

curtailment gain (1) (8) (5)

Net periodic other postretirement

benefit cost $ 34 $ 28 $ 36
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Benefit Obligation Net Cost

2006 2005 2006 2005 2004

Discount rate 5.6% 5.5% 5.5% 6.0% 6.3%

Expected return on plan assets — — 6.0% 7.4% 7.5%

The estimated amounts that will be amortized from accu-
mulated other comprehensive income into Net Periodic Benefit
Cost in 2007 include net actuarial losses of $1 million and prior
service credits of $9 million.

Major assumptions used in determining the benefit obli-
gation and net cost for postretirement plans are presented in
the following table as weighted-averages:

Assumed health care cost trend rates are as follows:

2006 2005

Health care cost trend rate assumed

for next year 9.5% 10%

Rate that the cost trend rate gradually

declines to 5% 5%

Year that the rate reaches the rate it is

assumed to remain at 2016 2016

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant
effect on the amounts reported for the health care plans. A one-
percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend
rates would have the following effects:

2006
One-Percentage-Point

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) Increase Decrease

Effect on total service and interest cost $ 3 $ (2)

Effect on postretirement benefit

obligation $43 $(41)

Estimated Future Benefit Payments
Benefit payments, including net amounts to be paid from
corporate assets, and reflecting expected future service, as
appropriate, are expected to be paid as follows: $82 million in
2007, $80 million in 2008, $79 million in 2009, $79 million in 2010,
$76 million in 2011, and $343 million from 2012 through 2016.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION. We have long-term incentive
plans authorizing various types of market and performance-
based incentive awards that may be granted to officers and
employees. Prior to April 13, 2005, our long-term incentive plan
provided for the annual grant of awards in an amount not to
exceed 2% of the aggregate number of shares of outstanding
common stock, treasury shares and potential common stock
(as determined by us in the calculation of earnings per share
on a diluted basis) for the preceding year. Under the 2005 Long
Term Incentive Plan (LTIP), which was approved by shareown-
ers at our annual meeting of shareowners and became effective
on April 13, 2005, a maximum of 38 million shares of common
stock may be awarded and the LTIP does not contain an annual
award limit. We expect that the shares awarded on an annual
basis will range from 1% to 1.5% of shares outstanding. The
2005 LTIP will expire after all shares have been awarded or
April 30, 2010, whichever is sooner. Upon the approval of the
2005 LTIP on April 13, 2005, we may not grant any new awards
under previously existing equity compensation plans. Under
all long-term incentive plans, the exercise price of awards is
set on the grant date and may not be less than the fair market

value per share on that date. Generally, awards have a term of
ten years and a minimum three-year vesting schedule. In the
event of retirement, awards held for more than one year shall
immediately become vested and exercisable. Additionally,
under the 2005 LTIP, awards with performance-based vesting
will also generally be subject to a three-year performance mea-
surement period. In the event of retirement before completion
of the three-year performance measurement period, awards
may remain eligible to vest. We have historically repurchased
shares in an amount at least equal to the number of shares
issued under our equity compensation arrangements and
expect to continue this policy.

We adopted SFAS No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment,”
(SFAS No. 123(R)) as of January 1, 2005 using the modified ret-
rospective method described in the standard. This standard
requires the cost of all share-based payments, including stock
options, to be measured at fair value on the grant date and rec-
ognized in the statement of operations. In accordance with the
standard, all periods prior to January 1, 2005 were restated to
reflect the impact of the standard as if it had been adopted on
January 1, 1995, the original effective date of SFAS No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” Also in accor-
dance with the standard, the amounts that are reported in the
statement of operations for the restated periods are the pro
forma amounts previously disclosed under SFAS No. 123.

For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
$180 million, $153 million and $169 million, respectively, of
compensation cost was recognized in operating results. The
associated future income tax benefit recognized was $58 mil-
lion, $49 million and $54 million for the years ended December
31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the
amount of cash received from the exercise of stock options was
$346 million, $282 million and $343 million, respectively, with an
associated tax benefit realized of $137 million, $90 million and
$147 million, respectively. Also, in accordance with SFAS No.
123(R), for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
$101 million, $61 million and $103 million, respectively, of cer-
tain tax benefits have been reported as operating cash outflows
with corresponding cash inflows from financing activities.

At December 31, 2006, there was $115 million of total
unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested equity
awards granted under long-term incentive plans. This cost is
expected to be recognized ratably over a weighted-average
period of 1.3 years.
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A summary of the transactions under all long-term incen-
tive plans for the three years ended December 31, 2006 follows:

Stock Appreciation Performance
Stock Options Rights Share Units

Other
Average Average Average Incentive

(SHARES AND UNITS IN THOUSANDS) Shares Price* Shares Price** Units Price** Share/Units

Outstanding at:

December 31, 2003 90,180 $ 28.78 — — — — 644

Granted 16,148 46.68 — — — — 774

Exercised/earned (16,944) 22.05 — — — — (218)

Cancelled (1,906) 34.53 — — — — (498)

December 31, 2004 87,478 $ 33.26 — — — — 702

Granted 11,464 51.30 — — — — 128

Exercised/earned (11,549) 26.75 — — — — (216)

Cancelled (1,607) 42.36 — — — — (28)

December 31, 2005 85,786 $36.37 — — — — 586

Granted 220 56.46 7,110 $56.78 1,185 $56.53 234

Exercised/earned (13,069) 28.47 — — — — (234)

Cancelled (961) 47.76 (250) 56.78 (44) 56.53 (37)

December 31, 2006 71,976 $37.71 6,860 $56.78 1,141 $56.53 549

*weighted-average exercise price
**weighted-average grant stock price

The weighted-average grant date fair value of stock
options and stock appreciation rights granted during 2006,
2005 and 2004 was $15.84, $14.03 and $15.44, respectively. The
weighted-average grant date fair value of performance share
units, which vest upon achieving certain performance metrics,
granted during 2006 was $63.96. There were no similar equity
awards prior to 2006. The total fair value of options vested dur-
ing the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was
$121 million, $208 million and $185 million, respectively. The

total intrinsic value (which is the amount by which the stock
price exceeded the exercise price of the options on the date of
exercise) of options exercised during the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $443 million, $298 million and
$397 million, respectively.

The following table summarizes information about stock
options outstanding that are expected to vest and stock options
outstanding that are exercisable at December 31, 2006:

Equity Awards Outstanding Expected to Vest Equity Awards Outstanding That Are Exercisable

Aggregate Aggregate
(SHARES IN THOUSANDS, Average Intrinsic Remaining Average Intrinsic Remaining
AGGREGATE INTRINSIC VALUE IN MILLIONS) Shares Price* Value Term** Shares Price* Value Term**

80,080 $38.63 $1,913 5.7 48,473 $32.21 $1,469 4.2

*weighted-average exercise price per share
**weighted-average contractual remaining term in years

As of January 1, 2005, the fair value of each option award
is estimated on the date of grant using a binomial lattice
model. Prior to January 1, 2005, the fair value of each option
award was estimated on the grant date using a Black-Scholes
valuation model. The following table indicates the assumptions
used in estimating fair value for the years ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004. Because lattice-based options models
incorporate ranges of assumptions for inputs, those ranges are
as follows:

2006 2005 2004
(Binomial (Binomial (Black-

Lattice) Lattice) Scholes)

Expected volatility 21% 20% to 23% 38%

Weighted-average volatility 21% 22% n/a

Expected term (in years) 7.6 to 7.9 7.4 to 8.5 5

Expected dividends 1.7% 1.5% 1.5%

Risk-free rate 4.0% to 4.4% 2.0% to 4.3% 3.1%
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Expected volatilities are based on the returns of our
stock, including its historical volatility for the Black-Scholes
valuation model and implied volatilities from traded options
on our stock for the binomial lattice model. We use historical
data to estimate equity award exercise and employee termina-
tion behavior within the valuation model. Separate employee
groups and equity award characteristics are considered sepa-
rately for valuation purposes. The expected term represents
an estimate of the period of time equity awards are expected
to remain outstanding. The range provided in the above table
represents expected behavior for certain groups of employees
who have historically exhibited different behavior. The risk-
free rate is based on the term structure of interest rates at the
time of equity award grant.

Note 11. Restructuring
During 2006, we recorded net pre-tax restructuring and related
charges totaling $288 million for new and ongoing restructur-
ing actions. We recorded charges in the segments as follows:
Otis $46 million, Carrier $69 million, UTC Fire & Security
$44 million, Pratt & Whitney $68 million, Hamilton Sundstrand
$40 million and Sikorsky $21 million. The charges include
$223 million in cost of sales, $64 million in selling, general and

administrative expenses and $1 million in other income. As
described below, these charges relate to actions initiated dur-
ing 2006 and 2005 and for certain actions initiated in the fourth
quarter of 2004.

2006 ACTIONS. During 2006, we initiated restructuring actions
relating to ongoing cost reduction efforts including selling,
general and administrative reductions principally at Carrier
and UTC Fire & Security; workforce reductions, principally in
Korea at Otis and Carrier and voluntary separations at Sikor-
sky; and the consolidation of manufacturing facilities. We
recorded net pre-tax restructuring and related charges totaling
$220 million, including $159 million in cost of sales, $60 million
in selling, general and administrative expenses and $1 million
in other income.

As of December 31, 2006, net workforce reductions of
approximately 1,900 employees of an expected 3,800 employ-
ees have been completed, and 100,000 net square feet of
facilities of an expected 500,000 net square feet have been
exited. The remaining workforce and facility reduction actions
are targeted for completion during 2007.

The following table summarizes the restructuring accrual
balances and utilization by cost type for the 2006 programs:

Facility Exit
and Lease

Asset Termination
( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) Severance Write-downs Costs Total

Net pre-tax charges $ 179 $ 12 $ 29 $ 220

Utilization (130) (12) (23) (165)

Balance at December 31, 2006 $ 49 $ — $ 6 $ 55

Facility Exit
and Lease

Asset Termination
( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) Severance Write-downs Costs Total

Expected costs $ 185 $ 12 $ 76 $ 273

Costs incurred during 2006 (179) (12) (29) (220)

Remaining costs at December 31, 2006 $ 6 $— $47 $ 53

The following table summarizes expected, incurred and remaining costs for the 2006 programs by type:

The following table summarizes expected, incurred and
remaining costs for the 2006 programs by segment:

Costs Remaining
Incurred Costs at

Expected during December
( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) Costs 2006 31, 2006

Otis $ 48 $ (47) $ 1

Carrier 65 (61) 4

UTC Fire & Security 54 (40) 14

Pratt & Whitney 79 (46) 33

Hamilton Sundstrand 6 (5) 1

Sikorsky 21 (21) —

Total $273 $(220) $53

2005 ACTIONS. During 2006, we recorded net pre-tax restructur-
ing and related charges in the business segments totaling

$62 million for restructuring actions initiated in 2005, including
$58 million in cost of sales and $4 million in selling, general and
administrative expenses. The 2005 actions relate to ongoing cost
reduction efforts, including global workforce reductions and the
consolidation of manufacturing, sales and service facilities. The
more significant actions relate to the consolidation of manufac-
turing operations at Hamilton Sundstrand, including the closure
of a portion of Rockford manufacturing, and general overhead
reduction efforts principally at Pratt & Whitney and Carrier.

As of December 31, 2006, net workforce reductions of
approximately 2,200 employees of an expected 2,900 employ-
ees have been completed, and 500,000 net square feet of
facilities of an expected 1.2 million net square feet have been
exited. The remaining facility-related cost reductions will be
completed through 2008 as a result of aerospace supply
chain issues.



2006 ANNUAL REPORT 69

The following table summarizes the restructuring accrual balances and utilization by cost type for the 2005 programs:

Facility Exit
and Lease

Asset Termination
( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) Severance Write-downs Costs Total

Restructuring accruals at January 1, 2006 $ 72 $ — $ 7 $ 79

Net pre-tax charges 5 8 49 62

Utilization (62) (8) (39) (109)

Balance at December 31, 2006 $15 $ — $17 $ 32

The following table summarizes expected, incurred and remaining costs for the 2005 programs by type:

Facility Exit
and Lease

Asset Termination
( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) Severance Write-downs Costs Total

Expected costs $ 141 $ 38 $ 85 $ 264

Costs incurred during 2005 (134) (30) (15) (179)

Costs incurred during 2006 (5) (8) (49) (62)

Remaining costs at December 31, 2006 $ 2 $ — $21 $ 23

The following table summarizes expected, incurred and remaining costs for the 2005 programs by segment:

Costs Costs Remaining
Incurred Incurred Costs at

Expected during during December
( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) Costs 2005 2006 31, 2006

Otis $ 52 $ (52) $ 1 $ 1

Carrier 69 (63) (6) —

UTC Fire & Security 25 (21) (4) —

Pratt & Whitney 36 (9) (22) 5

Hamilton Sundstrand 73 (25) (31) 17

Sikorsky 3 (3) — —

Eliminations & Other 6 (6) — —

Total $264 $(179) $(62) $23

2004 ACTIONS. During 2006, we recorded net pre-tax restruc-
turing and related charges in the business segments totaling
$6 million for restructuring actions initiated in the fourth quar-
ter of 2004, all of which were in cost of sales. The 2004 actions
relate to ongoing cost reduction efforts, including workforce
reductions and the consolidation of manufacturing, sales and
service facilities, including Carrier’s McMinnville, Tennessee,
commercial air conditioning and ventilation product manu-
facturing facility and Hamilton Sundstrand’s Rockford
electronics manufacturing facility.

As of December 31, 2006, net workforce reductions of
approximately 5,400 employees have been completed, and
5.5 million net square feet of facilities of an expected 5.6 mil-
lion net square feet of facilities have been exited.

Note 12. Financial Instruments
We operate internationally and, in the normal course of busi-
ness, are exposed to fluctuations in interest rates, foreign
exchange rates and commodity prices. These fluctuations can
increase the costs of financing, investing and operating the
business. We manage our foreign currency transaction risks
and some commodity exposures to acceptable limits through
the use of derivatives designated as hedges.

By nature, all financial instruments involve market and
credit risks. We enter into derivative and other financial instru-
ments with major investment grade financial institutions and
have policies to monitor the credit risk of those counterparties.
We limit counterparty exposure and concentration of risk by
diversifying counterparties. We do not anticipate non-perfor-
mance by any of these counterparties.

The non-shareowner changes in equity associated with
hedging activity for the 12 months ended December 31, 2006
and 2005 were as follows:

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005

Balance at January 1 $57 $65

Cash flow hedging gain, net 80 42

Net gain reclassified to sales or cost of

products sold (133) (50)

Balance at December 31 $ 4 $57
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Of the amount recorded in Shareowners’ Equity, a $43 mil-
lion pre-tax gain is expected to be reclassified into sales or cost
of products sold to reflect the fixed prices obtained from hedg-
ing within the next 12 months. Gains and losses recognized in
earnings related to the discontinuance or the ineffectiveness of
cash flow and fair value hedges were immaterial for the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005. At December 31, 2006, all
derivative contracts accounted for as cash flow hedges mature
by December 2010.

All derivative instruments are recorded on the balance
sheet at fair value. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the fair value
of derivatives recorded as assets was $93 million and $150 mil-

lion, respectively, and the fair value of derivatives recorded
as liabilities was $98 million and $56 million, respectively. We
use derivatives to hedge forecasted cash flows associated
with foreign currency commitments or forecasted commodity
purchases, which are accounted for as cash flow hedges. In
addition, from time to time we use derivatives, such as interest
rate swaps, which are accounted for as fair value hedges.

The notional amount of foreign exchange contracts
hedging foreign currency transactions was $11.3 billion and
$8.4 billion at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The
carrying amounts and fair values of financial instruments at
December 31 are as follows:

2006 2005

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) Amount Value Amount Value

Financial Assets and Liabilities:

Marketable equity securities $ 323 $ 323 $ 283 $ 283

Long-term receivables 197 194 178 174

Customer financing notes receivable 347 328 502 478

Short-term borrowings (857) (857) (1,612) (1,612)

Long-term debt (7,022) (7,496) (6,602) (7,156)

The above fair values were computed based on compara-
ble transactions, quoted market prices, discounted future cash
flows or an estimate of the amount to be received or paid to
terminate or settle the agreement, as applicable.

The values of marketable equity securities represent our
investment in common stock that is classified as available for
sale and is accounted for at fair value.

We have outstanding financing and rental commitments
totaling $1,126 million at December 31, 2006. Risks associated
with changes in interest rates on these commitments are mit-
igated by the fact that interest rates are variable during the
commitment term and are set at the date of funding based

on current market conditions, the fair value of the underlying
collateral and the credit worthiness of the customers. As a
result, the fair value of these financings is expected to equal
the amounts funded. The fair value of the commitment itself
is not readily determinable and is not considered significant.
Additional information pertaining to these commitments is
included in Note 4.

Note 13. Guarantees
We extend a variety of financial guarantees to third parties. As
of December 31, 2006 and 2005 the following financial guaran-
tees were outstanding:

2006 2005

Maximum Carrying Maximum Carrying
Potential Amount of Potential Amount of

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) Payment Liability Payment Liability

Credit facilities and debt obligations —

unconsolidated subsidiaries (expire 2007 to 2034) $ 191 $ 1 $ 148 $ 1

IAE’s financing arrangements (See Note 4) 1,208 15 1,186 17

Commercial aerospace financing arrangements (See Note 4) 194 37 175 40

Commercial customer financing arrangements 123 1 85 1

Performance guarantees 73 — 100 —

We also have obligations arising from sales of certain
businesses and assets, including representations and war-
ranties and related indemnities for environmental, health and
safety, tax and employment matters. The maximum potential
payment related to these obligations is not a specified amount
as a number of the obligations do not contain financial caps.
The carrying amount of liabilities related to these obligations
was $171 million and $186 million at December 31, 2006 and
2005, respectively. For additional information regarding the
environmental indemnifications, see Note 14.

We accrue for costs associated with guarantees when it is
probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount can

be reasonably estimated. The most likely cost to be incurred is
accrued based on an evaluation of currently available facts, and
where no amount within a range of estimates is more likely, the
minimum is accrued. In accordance with FASB Interpretation
No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements
for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness
of Others,” for guarantees issued after December 31, 2002, we
record a liability for the fair value of such guarantees in the
balance sheet.

We provide service and warranty policies on our prod-
ucts and extend performance and operating cost guarantees
beyond our normal service and warranty policies on some of
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our products, particularly commercial aircraft engines. In addi-
tion, we incur discretionary costs to service our products in
connection with product performance issues. Liability for per-
formance and operating cost guarantees is based upon future
product performance and durability, and is estimated largely
based upon historical experience. Adjustments are made to
accruals as claim data and historical experience warrant. The
changes in the carrying amount of service and product warran-
ties and product performance guarantees for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005, are as follows:

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005

Balance as of January 1 $1,183 $1,185

Warranties and guarantees issued 533 463

Settlements made (396) (459)

Adjustments to provision 1 (6)

Balance as of December 31 $1,321 $1,183

Note 14. Commitments
and Contingent Liabilities
LEASES. We occupy space and use certain equipment under
lease arrangements. Rental commitments of $1,382 million at
December 31, 2006 under long-term noncancelable operating
leases are payable as follows: $372 million in 2007, $289 million
in 2008, $215 million in 2009, $153 million in 2010, $103 million
in 2011 and $250 million thereafter. Rent expense was $373 mil-
lion in 2006, $299 million in 2005 and $321 million in 2004.

Additional information pertaining to commercial aero-
space rental commitments is included in Note 4.

ENVIRONMENTAL. Our operations are subject to environmental
regulation by federal, state and local authorities in the United
States and regulatory authorities with jurisdiction over our
foreign operations. As described in Note 1, we have accrued
for the costs of environmental remediation activities and peri-
odically reassess these amounts. We believe that the likelihood
of incurring losses materially in excess of amounts accrued is
remote.

GOVERNMENT. We are now, and believe that in light of the current
U.S. government contracting environment we will continue to
be, the subject of one or more U.S. government investigations. If
we or one of our business units were charged with wrongdoing
as a result of any of these investigations or other government
investigations (including violations of certain environmental or
export laws) the U.S. government could suspend us from bid-
ding on or receiving awards of new U.S. government contracts
pending the completion of legal proceedings. If convicted or
found liable, the U.S. government could fine and debar us from
new U.S. government contracting for a period generally not to
exceed three years. The U.S. government could void any con-
tracts found to be tainted by fraud.

Our contracts with the U.S. government are also subject
to audits. Like many defense contractors, we have received
audit reports, which recommend that certain contract prices
should be reduced to comply with various government reg-
ulations. Some of these audit reports involved substantial
amounts. We have made voluntary refunds in those cases we

believe appropriate and continue to litigate certain cases. In
addition, we accrue for liabilities associated with those mat-
ters that are probable and can be reasonably estimated.

As previously disclosed, we had been in litigation with the
Department of Defense (DoD) as to whether Pratt & Whitney’s
government cost accounting practices for engine parts pro-
duced by foreign companies under commercial collaboration
programs since 1984 were acceptable. In 2001, the U.S. Armed
Services Board of Contract Appeals (ASBCA) ruled in our favor,
but the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit reversed
in 2003 and remanded the case to the ASBCA to determine
the appropriate accounting. The U.S. Supreme Court declined
to review that decision. In November 2003, the DoD supple-
mented its claim to add damages and interest for the period
after 1996, bringing the DoD’s claim to approximately $367 mil-
lion in damages through 2002 and approximately $388 million
in interest through 2001. Our appeal of this supplemental claim
was consolidated with the original matter. On June 5, 2006 we
entered into an agreement with the DoD to pay $283 million
in settlement of this litigation and paid the entire settlement
amount in July 2006.

In addition and as previously disclosed, the U.S. Depart-
ment of Justice (DoJ) sued us in 1999 under the civil False
Claims Act and other theories related to the “Fighter Engine
Competition” between Pratt & Whitney’s F100 engine and GE’s
F110 engine. The DoJ alleges that the Government overpaid
for engines because Pratt & Whitney inflated certain costs and
withheld data. The Government claims damages of $624 mil-
lion. We believe this estimate is substantially overstated, deny
any liability and are vigorously defending the matter. Trial of
this matter was completed in December 2004 and a decision
is pending. Should the U.S. government ultimately prevail
with respect to the foregoing government contracting matter,
the outcome could result in a material effect on our results of
operations in the period in which a liability would be recog-
nized or cash flows for the period in which damages would be
paid. However, we believe that the resolution of this matter will
not have a material adverse effect on our results of operations,
competitive position, cash flows or financial condition.

As previously reported, the European Commission’s Com-
petition Directorate (EU Commission) conducted inspections
in early 2004 at offices of our Otis subsidiary in Berlin, Brussels,
Luxembourg and Paris relating to an investigation of possible
unlawful collusive arrangements involving the European ele-
vator and escalator industry. Based on the result of our own
internal investigation, we believe that some Otis employees
engaged in activities at a local level in Belgium, Luxembourg,
the Netherlands and Germany in violation of Otis and UTC pol-
icies and European competition law. On October 13, 2005, we
received a Statement of Objections (SO) from the EU Commis-
sion relating to this investigation. The SO, an administrative
complaint, alleges infringements of EU competition rules by
certain elevator companies, including Otis, in Belgium, Lux-
embourg, the Netherlands and Germany. We responded to the
SO on February 21, 2006 and have cooperated fully with the
EU Commission. We expect the EU Commission to issue a
decision in the near term, but cannot reasonably estimate the
range of civil fines to which we or Otis would likely be subject.
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The aggregate amount of such fines could be material to our
operating results for the period in which the liability would be
recognized or cash flows for the period in which the fines would
be paid. We do not believe that any such fines would have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition, or that the
resolution of this matter would have a material adverse effect
on Otis’ competitive position.

Since the EU Commission’s investigation became public,
class action lawsuits were filed in various federal district courts
in the United States alleging that we, Otis and other elevator
manufacturers engaged in violations of Sections 1 and 2 of the
Sherman Act. Those lawsuits were transferred to and consoli-
dated in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New
York. On June 6, 2006, the district court judge granted our
motion to dismiss without leave to replead. On June 30, 2006,
the plaintiffs appealed this decision to the U.S. Court of Appeals
for the Second Circuit. We expect a decision in the second or
third quarter of 2007. We continue to believe this litigation is
without merit.

OTHER. As described in Note 13, we extend performance and
operating cost guarantees beyond our normal warranty and
service policies for extended periods on some of our products.
We have accrued our estimate of the liability that may result
under these guarantees and for service costs, which are prob-
able and can be reasonably estimated.

We have accrued for environmental investigatory, reme-
diation, operating and maintenance costs, performance
guarantees and other litigation and claims based on our esti-
mate of the probable outcome of these matters. While it is
possible that the outcome of these matters may differ from
the recorded liability, we believe the resolution of these mat-
ters will not have a material impact on our financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

We also have other commitments and contingent liabili-
ties related to legal proceedings, self-insurance programs and
matters arising out of the normal course of business.

Note 15. Segment Financial Data
Our operations are classified in six principal segments. Our UTC
Fire & Security segment was created in the second quarter of
2005 upon the acquisition of Kidde and includes our former
Chubb segment and the acquired Kidde business, excluding
the aircraft fire protection systems business, which is included
in the Hamilton Sundstrand segment. The segments are gener-
ally determined based on the management of the businesses
and on the basis of separate groups of operating companies,
each with general operating autonomy over diversified prod-
ucts and services.

OTIS products include elevators, escalators, moving walkways
and service sold to customers in the commercial and residen-
tial property industries around the world.

CARRIER products include residential, commercial and indus-
trial heating, ventilating, air conditioning and refrigeration
systems and equipment, food service equipment, building
automation and controls, HVAC and refrigeration components
and installation, retrofit and aftermarket services.

UTC FIRE & SECURITY products include fire and special hazard
and suppression systems and fire fighting equipment, elec-
tronic security, monitoring and rapid response systems and
service and security personnel for a diversified international
customer base principally in the industrial, commercial and
residential property sectors.

PRATT & WHITNEY products include commercial, general avia-
tion and military aircraft engines, parts and service, industrial
gas turbines and space propulsion sold to a diversified cus-
tomer base, including international and domestic commercial
airlines and aircraft leasing companies, aircraft manufacturers,
and U.S. and foreign governments. Pratt & Whitney also pro-
vides product support and a full range of overhaul, repair and
fleet management services and produces land-based power
generation equipment.

HAMILTON SUNDSTRAND provides aerospace and industrial
products and aftermarket services for diversified industries
worldwide. Aerospace products include power generation,
management and distribution systems, flight systems, engine
control systems, environmental control systems, fire protec-
tion and detection systems, auxiliary power units and propeller
systems. Industrial products include air compressors, metering
pumps and fluid handling equipment.

SIKORSKY products include military and commercial helicop-
ters, aftermarket helicopter and aircraft parts and services.
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Total Revenues Operating Profits

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004

Otis $10,290 $ 9,575 $ 8,937 $1,888 $1,712 $1,413

Carrier 13,481 12,512 10,620 1,237 1,104 830

UTC Fire & Security 4,747 4,250 2,879 301 235 130

Pratt & Whitney 11,112 9,295 8,281 1,817 1,449 1,083

Hamilton Sundstrand 4,995 4,382 3,921 832 675 583

Sikorsky 3,230 2,802 2,506 173 250 200

Total segment 47,855 42,816 37,144 6,248 5,425 4,239

Eliminations & Other (26) (91) 301 187 81 368

General corporate expenses — — — (337) (324) (306)

Consolidated $47,829 $42,725 $37,445 $6,098 $5,182 $4,301

Total Assets Capital Expenditures Depreciation & Amortization

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004

Otis $ 6,973 $ 6,094 $ 5,939 $ 93 $ 79 $ 79 $ 183 $165 $175

Carrier 10,127 9,433 9,166 148 243 176 157 169 200

UTC Fire & Security 8,518 7,595 4,974 106 79 69 176 150 95

Pratt & Whitney 9,828 9,515 7,514 335 303 244 280 255 273

Hamilton Sundstrand 9,418 8,986 7,473 142 137 134 142 149 129

Sikorsky 3,145 2,592 1,965 66 49 46 47 42 42

Total segment 48,009 44,215 37,031 890 890 748 985 930 914

Eliminations & Other (868) 1,710 3,410 64 39 47 48 54 64

Consolidated $47,141 $45,925 $40,441 $954 $929 $795 $1,033 $984 $978

Segment information for the years ended December 31 is as follows:

SEGMENT REVENUES AND OPERATING PROFIT. Total revenues
by segment include intersegment sales, which are generally
made at prices approximating those that the selling entity is
able to obtain on external sales.

Geographic Areas

External Revenues Operating Profits Long-Lived Assets

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004

United States operations $23,524 $20,505 $18,512 $3,067 $2,498 $1,972 $2,939 $2,882 $2,540

International operations

Europe 12,069 11,255 9,389 1,731 1,457 1,167 1,130 1,020 1,036

Asia Pacific 7,056 6,525 5,717 814 968 781 717 733 758

Other 4,809 4,137 3,288 637 502 401 698 646 558

Eliminations & Other 371 303 539 (151) (243) (20) 241 342 339

Consolidated $47,829 $42,725 $37,445 $6,098 $5,182 $4,301 $5,725 $5,623 $5,231
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GEOGRAPHIC EXTERNAL REVENUES AND OPERATING PROFIT.

Geographic external revenues and operating profits are attrib-
uted to the geographic regions based on their location of
origin. United States external revenues include export sales to
commercial customers outside the U.S. and sales to the U.S.
government, commercial and affiliated customers, which are
known to be for resale to customers outside the U.S.

Revenues from United States operations include export
sales as follows:

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005 2004

Europe $1,448 $1,273 $1,126

Asia Pacific 1,629 1,480 1,309

Other 1,771 1,371 1,128

$4,848 $4,124 $3,563

GEOGRAPHIC LONG-LIVED ASSETS. Long-lived assets are net
fixed assets attributed to the specific geographic regions.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS. Revenues include sales under prime con-
tracts and subcontracts to the U.S. government, primarily
related to Pratt & Whitney, Hamilton Sundstrand and Sikorsky
products, as follows:

( IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS) 2006 2005 2004

Pratt & Whitney $3,652 $3,278 $2,990

Hamilton Sundstrand 934 868 761

Sikorsky 1,819 1,546 1,692

Other 40 60 62

$6,445 $5,752 $5,505

Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
2006 Quarters 2005 Quarters

(IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS) First Second Third Fourth First Second Third Fourth

Sales $10,446 $12,046 $11,972 $12,654 $9,309 $10,974 $10,823 $11,172

Gross margin 2,796 3,271 3,178 3,133 2,494 2,984 2,932 2,933

Income before cumulative effect of a

change in accounting principle 768 1,103 996 865 651 971 821 721

Net income 768 1,103 996 865 651 971 821 626

Earnings per share of Common Stock:

Basic - income before cumulative effect

of a change in accounting principle $ .78 $ 1.12 $ 1.02 $ .89 $ .66 $ .98 $ .83 $ .73

Basic - net income $ .78 $ 1.12 $ 1.02 $ .89 $ .66 $ .98 $ .83 $ .64

Diluted - income before cumulative effect

of a change in accounting principle $ .76 $ 1.09 $ .99 $ .87 $ .64 $ .95 $ .81 $ .71

Diluted - net income $ .76 $ 1.09 $ .99 $ .87 $ .64 $ .95 $ .81 $ .62

Comparative Stock Data (Unaudited)
2006 2005

Common Stock High Low Dividend High Low Dividend

First quarter $59.94 $54.20 $.220 $52.35 $49.03 $.220

Second quarter $66.39 $56.58 $.265 $54.00 $48.43 $.220

Third quarter $64.74 $57.45 $.265 $52.60 $49.20 $.220

Fourth quarter $67.47 $61.80 $.265 $58.89 $49.29 $.220

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock
Exchange. The high and low prices are based on the Composite
Tape of the New York Stock Exchange. There were approxi-
mately 21,000 registered shareholders at December 31, 2006.
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December

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

United Technologies Corporation $100.00 $97.28 $151.17 $167.39 $184.21 $209.37

S&P 500 Index $100.00 $77.90 $100.25 $111.15 $116.61 $135.03

Dow Jones Industrial Average $100.00 $84.99 $109.05 $115.11 $117.12 $139.41

Performance Graph (Unaudited)
The following graph presents the cumulative total share-
holder return for the five years ending December 31, 2006 for
our common stock, as compared to the Standard & Poor’s 500
Stock Index and to the Dow Jones 30 Industrial Average. Our

common stock price is a component of both indices. These
figures assume that all dividends paid over the five-year
period were reinvested, and that the starting value of each
index and the investment in common stock was $100.00 on
December 31, 2001.

Comparison of Cumulative Five Year Total Return



Louis R. Chênevert
President and Chief Operating Officer
United Technologies Corporation
(Diversified Manufacturer)

George David
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
United Technologies Corporation
(Diversified Manufacturer)

John V. Faraci
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
International Paper
(Paper, Packaging and Wood Products)

Jean-Pierre Garnier
Chief Executive Officer
GlaxoSmithKline plc
(Pharmaceuticals)

Jamie S. Gorelick
Partner
WilmerHale
(Law Firm)

Charles R. Lee
Retired Chairman and
Co-Chief Executive Officer
Verizon Communications
(Telecommunications)

Richard D. McCormick
Retired Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer
US West, Inc.
(Telecommunications)

Harold McGraw III
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer
The McGraw-Hill Companies
(Global Information Services)

Richard B. Myers
General, U.S. Air Force (Ret.)
and former Chairman of the
Joint Chiefs of Staff

Frank P. Popoff
Retired Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer
The Dow Chemical Company
(Chemicals and Chemical Products)

H. Patrick Swygert
President
Howard University
(Educational Institution)

André Villeneuve
Non-Executive Chairman
Euronext.liffe
(London Futures and
Derivatives Exchange)

H.A. Wagner
Retired Chairman
Air Products and Chemicals, Inc.
(Industrial Gases and Chemicals)

Christine Todd Whitman
President
The Whitman Strategy Group
(Management Consulting Firm)
Former EPA Administrator
Former Governor of New Jersey

Board of Directors

Permanent Committees

Audit Committee
Frank P. Popoff, Chairman
John V. Faraci
Richard D. McCormick
Richard B. Myers
H. Patrick Swygert
André Villeneuve
H.A. Wagner

Committee on Compensation
and Executive Development
H.A. Wagner, Chairman
Jean-Pierre Garnier
Charles R. Lee
Richard D. McCormick
Harold McGraw III
Frank P. Popoff

Executive Committee
George David, Chairman
Charles R. Lee
Frank P. Popoff
H.A. Wagner

Finance Committee
Charles R. Lee, Chairman
Louis R. Chênevert
George David
Jamie S. Gorelick
Harold McGraw III
Richard B. Myers
Frank P. Popoff
André Villeneuve

Committee on Nominations
and Governance
Richard D. McCormick, Chairman
John V. Faraci
Jean-Pierre Garnier
Charles R. Lee
H. Patrick Swygert
H.A. Wagner
Christine Todd Whitman

Public Issues Review
Committee
Jean-Pierre Garnier, Chairman
Jamie S. Gorelick
Harold McGraw III
H. Patrick Swygert
André Villeneuve
Christine Todd Whitman

76 UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION



Leadership

Mario Abajo
President, South Europe
and Middle East, Otis

Paul R. Adams
Vice President, Engineering,
Pratt & Whitney

David Adler
Senior Vice President,
Worldwide Customer
Service, Sikorsky

Ted F. Amyuni
President, Refrigeration,
Carrier

Alain M. Bellemare
President,
Pratt & Whitney Canada

Richard H. Bennett, Jr.
Vice President, Environment,
Health & Safety

Todd Bluedorn
President, North and South
America, Otis

Ari Bousbib
President, Otis

J. Thomas Bowler, Jr.
Vice President, Human
Resources

William M. Brown
President,
UTC Fire & Security

William L. Bucknall, Jr.
Senior Vice President,
Human Resources and
Organization

Tony Chamberlain
President, Security Services
Australasia,
UTC Fire & Security

Louis R. Chênevert
President and Chief
Operating Officer

Jean Colpin
Director,
United Technologies
Research Center

Halsey M. Cook
President, Residential and
Light Commercial North
America, Carrier

Geraud Darnis
President, Carrier

George David
Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer

John J. Doucette
Vice President and
Chief Information Officer

Michael R. Dumais
Vice President and General
Manager, Customer Service,
Hamilton Sundstrand

Thomas E. Farmer
President, Military Engines,
Pratt & Whitney

Stephen N. Finger
President, Pratt & Whitney

James E. Geisler
Vice President, Finance

Bruno Grob
President, North and East
Europe, Otis

Gregory J. Hayes
Vice President, Accounting
and Finance

David P. Hess
President,
Hamilton Sundstrand

Darryl Hughes
President, Security Services
Europe, Middle East and
Africa, UTC Fire & Security

Todd J. Kallman
President, Commercial
Engines, Pratt & Whitney

Alison Kaufman
Senior Vice President,
Government & International
Affairs

James E. Keenan
Senior Vice President and
General Manager,
Global Service Partners,
Pratt & Whitney

Robert F. Leduc
President, Flight Systems,
Hamilton Sundstrand

Patrick L’Hostis
President, Residential
and Light Commercial
International, Carrier

Nancy T. Lintner
Vice President,
Communications

Paul W. Martin
Senior Vice President,
U.S. Government &
Advanced Development
Programs, Sikorsky

J. Michael McQuade
Senior Vice President,
Science & Technology

Didier Michaud-Daniel
President, U.K. and Central
Europe, Otis

Raymond J. Moncini
Senior Vice President,
Operations, Otis

Michael A. Monts
Vice President,
Business Practices

Larry O. Moore
Senior Vice President,
Module Centers and
Operations, Pratt & Whitney

Timothy M. Morris
President, Aerospace
Power Systems,
Hamilton Sundstrand

Stephen G. Oswald
President, Industrial,
Hamilton Sundstrand

Eric Patry
President, Fire Safety
Europe, Middle East and
Africa, UTC Fire & Security

Jeffrey P. Pino
President, Sikorsky

Jothi Purushotaman
Vice President, Operations

Thomas I. Rogan
Vice President, Treasurer

Kelly Romano
President, Building Systems
and Services, Carrier

William H. Trachsel
Senior Vice President
and General Counsel

Tobin J. Treichel
Vice President, Tax

Joseph E. Triompo
President, Engine and
Control Systems,
Hamilton Sundstrand

Debra A. Valentine
Vice President,
Secretary and Associate
General Counsel

Jan van Dokkum
President, UTC Power

Charles Vo
President, North Asia
Pacific, Otis

Randal E. Wilcox
President, South Asia
Pacific, Otis

2006 ANNUAL REPORT 77



Shareowner Information

Corporate Office
United Technologies Corporation
United Technologies Building
Hartford, Connecticut 06101
Telephone: 860.728.7000

This report is made available to
shareowners in advance of the annual
meeting of shareowners to be held at
2:00 p.m., April 11, 2007, in New York,
New York. The proxy statement will
be made available to shareowners on
or about February 23, 2007, at which
time proxies for the meeting will be
requested.

Information about UTC, including
financial information, can be found at
our Web site: www.utc.com

Stock Listing
New York Stock Exchange

Ticker Symbol
UTX

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Computershare Trust Company, N.A.,
is the transfer agent, registrar and
dividend disbursing agent for UTC’s
Common Stock. Questions and
communications regarding transfer
of stock, replacement of lost certifi-
cates, dividends and address changes,
and the Direct Stock Purchase and
Dividend Reinvestment Plan should
be directed to:

Computershare Trust Company, N.A.
250 Royall Street
Canton, Massachusetts 02021
Telephone:
Within the U.S.: 1.800.488.9281
Outside the U.S.: 1.781.575.2724
Web site:
www.computershare.com/investor

TDD: 1.800.952.9245
Telecommunications device for the
hearing impaired.

Certifications
UTC has included as Exhibit 31 to its
Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal
year 2006 filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission certificates of
its prinicipal executive officers and
principal financial officers certifying,
among other things, the information
contained in the Form 10-K. Annually
UTC submits to the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE) a certificate of UTC’s
Chief Executive Officer certifying that
he was not aware of any violation by
UTC of NYSE corporate governance
listing standards as of the date of the
certification.

Dividends
Dividends are usually paid on the 10th
day of March, June, September and
December.

Electronic Access
Shareowners of record may sign up at
the following Web site for electronic
access to future annual reports and
proxy materials, rather than receiving
mailed copies:
www.computershare.com/us/ecomms

Your enrollment is revocable until
each year’s record date for the annual
meeting. Beneficial shareowners may
be able to request electronic access
by contacting their broker or bank,
or ADP at: www.utc.com/investors/
econsent/ics.htm

Additional Information
Shareowners may obtain a copy of
the UTC Annual Report on Form 10-K
for 2006 filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission by writing to:

Corporate Secretary
United Technologies Corporation
United Technologies Building
Hartford, Connecticut 06101

For additional information about UTC
please contact Investor Relations at
the above corporate office address, or
visit our Web site at: www.utc.com

Shareowner Information
Services
Our Internet and telephone services
give shareowners fast access to
UTC financial results. The 24-hour-
a-day, toll-free telephone service
includes recorded summaries of UTC’s
quarterly earnings information and
other company news. Callers also may
request copies of our quarterly earn-
ings and news releases, by either fax
or mail, and obtain copies of the
UTC Annual Report and Form 10-K.

To access the service, dial
1.800.881.1914 from any touch-
tone phone and follow the recorded
instructions.

Direct Registration System
If your shares are held in street name
through a broker and you are inter-
ested in participating in the Direct
Registration System, you may have
your broker transfer the shares to
Computershare Trust Company,
N.A., electronically through the Direct
Registration System. Interested
investors can request a description
of this book-entry form of registration
by calling Shareowner Information
Services at 1.800.881.1914.

Environmentally Friendly
Report
This annual report is printed on
recycled and recyclable paper.

www.utc.com
www.carrier.com
www.hamiltonsundstrand.com
www.otis.com
www.pratt-whitney.com
www.sikorsky.com
www.utcfireandsecurity.com
www.utcpower.com
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